

The Rationale for Family Planning in the Former Soviet Union

Evidence from Europe, Eurasia, and the US

March 2009

The EUROPE AND EURASIA REGIONAL FAMILY PLANNING ACTIVITY is a three-year initiative funded by the U.S. Agency for International Development through contract GHS-I-05-03-00026-00. The Activity is a regional effort to leverage best practices in family planning in order to accelerate program implementation across the region to increase modern contraceptive use and decrease abortion rates.

John Snow, Inc. implements the Europe and Eurasia Regional Family Planning Activity.

Recommended Citation: Bossert, T, Bowser, D, Kenney, A, Stan, L, Hudgins, A., and Zlidar, V. 2009. *The Rationale for Family Planning in the Former Soviet Union: Evidence from Europe, Eurasia and the US. The Europe and Eurasia Regional Family Planning Activity.* John Snow Incorporated for the United States Agency for International Development. 47 p.

The views expressed in this document do not necessarily reflect those of USAID.

ACRONYMS

| AIDS | Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome |
|--------|--|
| CDC | Centers for Disease Control and Prevention |
| CIS | Commonwealth of Independent States |
| EU | European Union |
| HFA-DB | European "Health for All" database |
| HIV | Human Immunodeficiency Virus |
| IPPF | International Planned Parenthood Federation |
| IUD | Intrauterine device |
| MOH | Ministry of Health |
| PID | Pelvic inflammatory disease |
| STI | Sexually transmitted infection |
| TAR | Total abortion rate |
| TFR | Total fertility rate |
| UN | United Nations |
| UNFPA | United Nations Population Fund |
| USAID | United States Agency for International Development |
| WHO | World Health Organization |
| | |

Table of Contents

| Introduction1 |
|---|
| I. Family Planning as a Human Right |
| Couple's and Individual's Rights |
| Women's Rights |
| Children's Rights |
| II. Family Planning as a Health Issue6 |
| Family Planning Contributes to Healthy Infants, Children, and Mothers |
| Modern Contraceptive Methods are Safe 11 |
| Combined Oral Contraceptives Provide Many Health Benefits |
| Non-contraceptive Benefits of Other Modern Contraceptives |
| Contraceptives, HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Infections |
| III. Contraception Reduces Abortion18 |
| Health Effects of Abortion |
| Contraception and Abortion: A Comparative Perspective |
| Contraceptive Method Mix |
| IV. Cost Benefit of Family Planning29 |
| Family Planning is a Cost-effective Intervention—Especially Compared to Abortion 29 |
| V. Government Support for Family Planning |
| Governments Support Family Planning because it Works |
| Conclusion |
| Annexes |
| References |

Introduction

One of the many changes taking place in the last fifteen years in the former Soviet countries is the availability and increasing use of modern contraceptive methods. This trend is viewed with concern in some countries—policy makers may not be familiar with modern contraception and may question the need for government to ensure access to quality family planning services. Such policy makers may not be aware of the many benefits of family planning, including:

- Improved maternal and child health and survival
- Reduced abortion rates
- Preventing sexually transmitted infections, including HIV
- Cost effectiveness and reduced health care costs
- Supporting the rights of individuals and children, giving couples the ability to make life-changing decisions about starting a family and family size

Moreover, in some countries where fertility rates are low and the population is declining, there are concerns that family planning can accelerate such population declines. Data refuting this misperception are presented in this paper. This paper will also inform readers why governments in industrialized nations—including those with low fertility rates—support family planning services and present the many important benefits that improved access to such services confers upon individuals, families, and governments¹.

The countries included in this analysis include twelve countries that were part of the Soviet Union prior to its dissolution: Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova, Russian Federation, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan, Ukraine, and Uzbekistan. (These countries also comprise the Commonwealth of Independent States².) This paper will refer to these countries as "the Region." Throughout the paper data from the Region will be compared to data from the European Union (EU) and the United States (US). When direct comparisons to the EU and US are not available, global data are used.

The common political heritage shared by these nations in the Region has resulted in a distinct pattern of family planning use, one that is contrasted by contraceptive use patterns in other industrialized nations:

- Relatively low use of modern contraceptive methods
- Relatively high use of traditional methods
- Relatively high reliance on abortion to control fertility, rather than using contraception

¹ This paper is adapted from an earlier paper: "The Rationale for Family Planning in Ukraine" (Bossert, et al., *Together for Health* project, Kyiv, Ukraine, 2007)

² Georgia is scheduled to withdraw from the Commonwealth of Independent States in August 2009.

• A lingering distrust of modern contraception, and hormonal contraception in particular

Despite these common characteristics, however, reproductive health indicators among countries of the Region vary considerably. For example, the average number of children that a woman is likely to have in her lifetime (known as total fertility rate or TFR) ranges from 1.3 in Moldova and Ukraine to 3.3 in Tajikistan. Similarly, rates of modern contraceptive use among married women of reproductive age in the Region also vary greatly, from as low as 12% in Azerbaijan to 59% in Uzbekistan.

This paper presents five compelling reasons to support increased access to family planning in the region, regardless of current fertility levels:

- **1. Family planning is a human right.** These twelve countries, along with most countries in the world, are signatories to major human rights declarations and international consensus documents that include:
 - The right of women to have access to adequate health care facilities, including information, counseling and services in family planning
 - The right of a child to be born wanted and healthy
 - The right of couples to decide freely and responsibly the number, spacing, and timing of their children
- 2. Modern contraceptive methods are safe, effective, and confer many health benefits. Many high-quality studies conducted worldwide following women over many years have clearly documented the safety of modern methods. Furthermore, significant health benefits are clearly proven to result from contraceptive use. To the extent that these health benefits protect a woman's fertility, they may even serve to increase total family size when couples decide at a later date to have more children. Lastly, maintaining adequate intervals between births has been shown directly to improve maternal, infant, and even child survival.
- **3.** Contraception reduces reliance on abortion. While abortion levels in the Region have declined in recent years, the combined abortion ratio in the Region is more than twice as high as that of the European Union. There are many reasons to support less reliance on abortion, including health benefits to women and their families and cost savings to clients and the health care system. Furthermore, evidence from low-fertility countries in the Region shows that increased use of modern contraception *replaces* abortion, rather than lowering fertility rates.
- 4. The benefits of family planning outweigh the costs. Evidence from the Region as well as other countries throughout the world, including the EU and US indicates that contraceptives are among the most cost-effective health interventions a country can invest in. Furthermore, investments in family planning

are often offset by cost savings in abortion services and abortion-related complications, since abortion rates decline.

5. **Many governments support family planning and affordable contraceptives.** Because contraception provides overwhelming benefits to the health of a nation, many governments have developed funding and structures to provide ready access to family planning services, counseling, and commodities. Different countries subsidize contraceptives to varying degrees, but they do so because they realize the importance of contraceptive availability and accessibility to improving the health and well-being of their nation.

I. Family Planning as a Human Right

Broad international consensus has clearly developed since the 1990s: Governments have a responsibility to protect and promote the rights of individuals and couples to control their reproductive lives and have access to family planning information and services. International agreements such as the declaration of the International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo in 1994 and the World Health Organization's (WHOs) Reproductive Health Strategy of 2004, among others, have made reproductive health and family planning major international priorities. Most recently, world leaders at the 2005 World Summit agreed to make universal access to reproductive health by 2015 a national strategy to attain the United Nations' Millennium Development Goals, asserting that "progress for women is progress for all," (United Nations Population Fund, 2005).

Enshrined in many international and national proclamations, laws, and international agreements, the importance of reproductive health and family planning has been a long-term doctrine in many countries. All of the countries in the Region are signatories to the many international agreements on human rights, including the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights; the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women; the Convention on the Rights of the Child; and the international consensus documents from the International Conference on Population and Development and the Fourth World Conference on Women.

Couple's and Individual's Rights

The decision of whether to have a child, and when to do so, is internationally recognized as a fundamental human right. International declarations and agreements have explicitly identified reproductive health—and more specifically, access to family planning—as a basic human right.

• *The Universal Declaration of Human Rights* in 1968 asserted the human right "to marry and to found a family."

- The 1994 International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo: Paragraph 7.16: "...All countries should take steps to meet the familyplanning needs of their population as soon as possible and should, in all cases by the year 2015, seek to provide universal access to a full range of safe and reliable family-planning methods and to related reproductive health services which are not against the law. The aim should be to assist couples and individuals to achieve their reproductive goals and give them the full opportunity to exercise the right to have children by choice."
- The European Union has several of its own human rights treaties, beginning with the *European Convention on the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms* (1950), which formally asserts that "men and women of marriageable age have the right to marry and found a family." The *European Social Charter* (1961) guarantees social and economic human rights, with a specific mention of the right to "accessible, effective health care facilities for the entire population."
- *The European Convention on Human Rights* also established the European Court of Human Rights, through which persons who feel their rights have been violated under these conventions may bring their case to the court. The status of reproductive rights as a human right has been confirmed through several cases, including the right to abortion for a woman in Poland, the paternity of a stillborn child in Russia, and the costs associated with the disabilities of a child that were not detected during the pregnancy of a woman in France (European Court of Human Rights, <u>www.echr.coe.int</u>).

Women's Rights

Although the rights of women are implied within all Human Rights declarations and conventions, their special reproductive status has also resulted in declarations that specifically address *women's* rights. Among these declarations are:

- The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (1981): Article 12.1. "State Parties shall take all appropriate measures to eliminate discrimination against women in the field of health care in order to ensure, on a basis of equality of men and women, access to health care services, including those relating to family planning." Article 14.2. "State Parties ... shall ensure to ... women [in rural areas] the right ... (b) to have access to adequate health care facilities, including information, counseling and services in family planning."
- *The WHO Reproductive Health Strategy* of 2004 defines a strategy for countries to use to improve reproductive and sexual health services. It cites as one of the core aspects of reproductive health: "...providing high-quality services for family planning, including infertility services; eliminating unsafe abortion; combating sexually transmitted infections including Human

Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV), reproductive tract infections, cervical cancer and other gynecological morbidities; and promoting sexual health," (WHO, 2004a).

- *The 1995 United Nations Fourth World Conference on Women* (Beijing Conference) reaffirmed the need to continually guarantee that reproductive rights are considered an integral part of human rights.
- Other organizations, such as the *International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics* (FIGO), have acknowledged the need for women's rights in order to achieve reproductive and sexual health. FIGO recognizes that "women's health is often compromised not by lack of medical knowledge, but by infringements on women's human rights."
- *The Millennium Development Goals* are an ambitious agenda for reducing poverty and improving lives agreed upon by 189 member states (including all twelve countries in the Region) at the Millennium Summit in 2000. Three of the eight Millennium Development Goals are directly related to sexual and reproductive health: Reduce child mortality, improve maternal health, and combat HIV/AIDS. In October 2006, universal access to reproductive and sexual health services through the primary healthcare system was confirmed as a new target toward the goal of "improving maternal health," (Family Care International, 2007; International Planned Parenthood Federation, 2006). This additional goal was proposed by the Millennium Project Task Force on Child Health and Maternal Health and endorsed by United Nations (UN) Secretary-General Kofi Annan who said:

"The Millennium Development Goals, particularly the eradication of extreme poverty and hunger, cannot be achieved if questions of population and reproductive health are not squarely addressed. And this means stronger efforts to promote women's rights and greater investment in education and health, including reproductive health and family planning."

Children's Rights

Avoidance of "unwanted pregnancies" and/or "unwanted births" is mentioned in many of the statements calling for access to family planning services. Inherent in this reasoning is the basic concept that every child should be "wanted." The 1994 International Conference on Population and Development Program of Action made this concept explicit, stating:

"First and foremost among these responsibilities is to ensure that every child is a wanted child. The second responsibility is to recognize that children are the most important resource for the future, and that greater investments in them by parents and societies are essential to the achievement of sustained economic growth and development."

In addition, The Convention of the Rights of the Child (1990) stipulates: "State Parties shall ... take appropriate measures: (a) to diminish infant and child mortality ... (d) to ensure appropriate pre- and post-natal health care for expectant mothers ... (f) to develop preventive health care, guidance for parent and family planning education and services."

Family planning is a successful intervention, one that has been directly proven to improve infant and child health, as well as decrease infant and child mortality (see Family Planning Contributes to Healthy Infants, Children, and Mothers, p. 7).

Although formal agreements are important assertions of rights, it is through the implementation of these rights at the national level that these guarantees are put into practice. In many countries, implementation has been inhibited by a variety of factors, including inadequate funding for reproductive health and family planning services, inadequate health systems and weak administrative structures, competing legal barriers, as well as broader social conditions of gender inequality and social norms about reproductive choices.

Key point 1: There is worldwide consensus that access to family planning services, counseling, and commodities is a basic human right, essential to the rights of the couple, the woman, and the child.

II. Family Planning as a Health Issue

Many of the declarations above make the link between family planning and health. This is because family planning has long been shown to provide many health benefits to a population. Contraception can reduce unwanted pregnancies, and thus, abortions, complications of pregnancy and childbirth (through preventing pregnancy), and lower the number of sexually transmitted infections, including HIV.

The role for contraception is indeed large. A global estimate of data in 2000 finds that every year, more than 120 million couples have an unmet need for contraception, and 80 million women have unintended pregnancies—45 million of which end in abortion. Over one-half of one million women die from complications associated with pregnancy, childbirth, and the postpartum period, and 340 million people acquire new gonorrhea, syphilis, chlamydia, or trichomonas infections (Glasier, 2006). Furthermore, modern contraceptive methods have long been proven to be safe. In fact, many direct health benefits result from contraceptive use, beyond preventing pregnancy.

Family Planning Contributes to Healthy Infants, Children, and Mothers

Avoiding unplanned and unwanted pregnancies is an important strategy to reduce infant and maternal mortality. Estimates find that as many as 50% of pregnancies are unplanned and 25% of pregnancies are unwanted in some countries (Donnay, 2000). Furthermore, complications of abortion are responsible for a large share of maternal deaths. For example, in Russia, abortion-related maternal mortality is roughly 10 times higher than in Western countries (Zhirova, 2004).

Over the last two decades, the maternal mortality rate in the Region has decreased considerably. In the Russian Federation, for example, the maternal mortality rate fell from 47 per 100,000 live births in 1990 to 24 per 100,000 in 2006. Still, this is nearly four times higher than the rate in the European Union, at about 6 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births (see Figure 1).





WHO/Europe Health for All Database

Family Planning Can Postpone Early Childbearing

Delaying the first birth of a child until age 20 is beneficial to the health of both mother and child. Pregnancy is the leading cause of death for young women ages 15 to 19 worldwide, resulting from complications of childbirth and unsafe abortion (UNFPA, 2004). These adolescent girls are twice as likely to die in childbirth as women in their 20s (UNFPA, 2004). The most common complications in pregnant adolescents include preterm labor, hypertensive disease, anemia, and poor maternal nutrition (Treffers, 2001).

In addition to safeguarding adolescent health, postponing childbearing also benefits young women by allowing them time to mature physically and mentally, to complete their education and be better prepared for the costs of supporting a newborn child (WHO, 2004a).

A global overview as well as a comprehensive review of the literature concluded that young mothers are more likely to have low birth-weight babies and are less likely to breastfeed their infants (Treffers, 2001; Koniak-Griffen, 2001). As such, the risk of infant death is higher among adolescents than with mothers over age 20. The risk of dying in the first year of life is typically 30% higher among babies whose mothers are aged 15 to19 than among those born to mothers aged 20 to 29 (Alan Guttmacher Institute, 1997). Data from the United Kingdom show that infants born to young mothers are at increased risk of death compared to those born to mothers 25 years of age or older (Botting, 1998). The younger the age of the mother, the greater the risk of infant mortality (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Infant Mortality by Mother's Age, England and Wales, 1994-1996

Botting, 1998

Countries in the Region have a higher level of adolescent pregnancies than other developed countries. In a review of 46 developed nations, adolescent childbearing rates were higher in 1995 than in 1970 in eight countries—Armenia, Belarus, Estonia, Georgia, Lithuania, Macedonia, the Russian Federation, and Ukraine. Only five of the 46 countries had rates of 70 or more pregnancies per 1,000 women aged 15-19 per year—Belarus, Bulgaria, Romania, the Russian Federation, and the U.S. (Alan Guttmacher Institute, 2001).

Young age at sexual debut contributes to these high levels of adolescent pregnancy, and teens in much of the Region are sexually active. For example, a study conducted by the Ukrainian Ministry of Health found that the average age of first sexual intercourse was 14 (Centers for Disease Control, 2003; Cromer, 1999). A WHO adolescent study found that 24% of girls age 15 and 47% of boys age 15 in Ukraine had had sexual intercourse (WHO, 2004c).

In countries in the Region where premarital sex is culturally unacceptable and less common than in Ukraine, the risk of early childbearing is still a concern due to early age at marriage. Married teens may be at increased risk of early childbearing, since the need for a bride to "prove" her fertility is common throughout many countries in the world—including more traditional European societies (Lucas, 1999). In Tajikistan, for example, nearly 15% of women ages 20-49 were married before they were 18 years of age (MICS Global Team, 2005). Women who marry at an early age also tend to have more pregnancies and births than women who married later in life (MICS Global Team, 2005), which are additional risk factors for poor reproductive health.

Family Planning Can Avoid Risky Late Pregnancies

Pregnancies at later ages are also a health concern for women and their children. As the age of pregnancy increases, increases in some health risks, including the risk of miscarriage, stillbirth, death of the newborn, gestational diabetes, pregnancy-induced hypertension, severe preeclampsia, and *placenta previa* also increase (Hanson, 1986; Huang, 2008; Jacobsson, 2004). Births to women over age 40 were found to be 2.7 times as risky as those in the lowest risk groups (Chen, 1974).

Family Planning Can Help with Healthy Birth Spacing

Appropriate birth intervals confer significant health benefits to mothers. A metaanalysis of 22 studies found that short birth intervals were associated with increased risk of uterine rupture, uteroplacental bleeding, maternal mortality, and other adverse maternal outcomes (Conde-Agudelo, 2007). Increased risk of adverse events to the health of the mother was found for intervals as short as 6 months or less after subsequent pregnancy, as well as for intervals up to 24 months between pregnancies (Conde-Agudelo, 2007). Conversely, there are benefits to health when birth intervals are longer. Compared to women who give birth at 9 to 14 month intervals, women who have children at an interval of 27 to 32 months are 1.3 times more likely to avoid anemia, 1.7 times more likely to avoid third-trimester bleeding, and 2.5 times more likely to survive childbirth (Conde-Agudelo, 2000).

Sufficiently long birth intervals also protect the health and survival of neonates, infants, and children up to age five. Appropriate birth spacing is associated with to reduced risk of premature and/or low birth weight infants (Fuentes-Afflick, 2000; Gribble, 1993). The most comprehensive analysis clearly shows that 36 to 47 months between a birth and the next conception is the interval with the lowest risk of neonatal, infant, and under-five mortality (Rutstein, 2008) (see Figure 3).



Figure 3. Mortality Rates by Preceding Birth Intervals

Rutstein, 2008

In the Region, similar research on birth intervals yields the same findings as the global studies. In Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, and Uzbekistan, mortality of children aged <36 months was 60% lower among those with birth intervals of 18 months or longer, after controlling for multiple factors (Akmatov, 2006).

Preventing Too Many Pregnancies

The literature is full of anecdotal evidence that too many pregnancies can be detrimental to the health of mothers, infants, and children. A common concern is that it may be advanced maternal age, and not the multiple pregnancies that are indeed the risk factor. A review of the literature examining the evidence for women with >5 and >10 pregnancies concluded that it is indeed likely that there is a linkage between multiple pregnancies, medical complications, and placental pathologies (Aliyu, 2005).

Studies show that having more than four births results in substantial health risks to the mother. For example, uterine prolapse and postpartum hemorrhage are more common among high-parity women (WHO, 2003a). Other studies show that low-income families with many children negatively affect child health through malnourishment, failure to recognize illness, inadequate attention and care, unfit clothing and shelter, and failure to take a child to see a doctor (Heaton, 2005).

Key point 2: Use of contraception leads to healthier mothers and infants through birth spacing and prevention of pregnancies among the very young, very old, and women with many children.

Modern Contraceptive Methods are Safe

Modern contraceptives are among the most-studied drugs and devices in the world. These studies are rigorously conducted to ensure the safety and effectiveness of contraceptive methods so that governments, policy makers, medical personnel, and users can be sure that the benefits of contraceptive use outweigh any risks associated with the method.

As with all medications and medical devices, there are benefits as well as risks to their use. Fortunately, the risks associated with contraceptive use are extremely low. Some of the most widely publicized risks of combined oral contraceptives relate to adverse cardiovascular events, such as deep vein thrombosis (blood clot in the deep veins of the legs) and pulmonary embolism (blood clot in arteries leading to the lungs). Figure 4 helps place these risks in context—note that the rates presented are per *million* women.

The data in Figure 4 clearly show that, for women in the United Kingdom, the risk of venous thromboembolism (blood clots) due to oral contraceptive use is one-third to one-half the risk of such blood clots during pregnancy and childbirth (Guillebaud, 2004). Furthermore, a woman using combined oral contraceptives is eight times more likely to die from an auto accident than her contraceptive use. Others estimate that the risk of death from pregnancy (>20 weeks) and childbirth for women living in the US and the United Kingdom is 20 times higher than that from oral contraceptive use for a

young, healthy woman, and 1,000 times higher than the risk of death from using an IUD (Hatcher, 2004).

Figure 4. Comparison of Risks of Death Associated with Contraception, Childbirth, and Other Activities in the United Kingdom, 2000, EU, and CIS in 2006



Historical Concerns with Hormonal Contraceptives

Many in the Region were taught that certain contraceptives are harmful to health. Some of this is a result of misunderstanding the historical evidence that is no longer applicable to today's contraceptive formulations. Worldwide studies in the 1960s and 1970s suggested that combined oral contraceptives were linked to increased risks of blood clots, heart attacks, and stroke (Royal College, 1967; Royal College, 1978; Vessey, 1968). The higher the dose of estrogen, the greater the risk of these adverse events (Gillium, 2000). As a result, high-dose pills stopped being used.

Unfortunately, it was primarily high-dose pills that were commonly available in the former Soviet block. The reputation of hormonal contraceptives was negatively affected by such research findings—a legacy that contributes to the reluctance of physicians to prescribe today's low-dose oral contraceptives. Nearly all of the oral contraceptives available in the Region today have less than 50 mcg of estrogen (Hudgins, 2004). This dose is not only effective, but significantly reduces the risks of adverse cardiovascular events (Gillium, 2000).

Many misperceptions exist about combined oral contraceptives. Fortunately, there is a large body of research that proves these misperceptions to be false. For example, a comprehensive literature review and pooling of studies found no association between oral contraceptives and weight gain (Gallo, 2008b). A common concern worldwide is

that oral contraceptives can impair future fertility. Many studies show, however, that there is no delay in return to fertility after oral contraceptive use—that is, women who had used pills were equally likely to become pregnant over time as women who did not use any contraceptive method (WHO, 2007c; Hassan, 1994; Farrow, 2002). In fact, one study had a particularly interesting finding: Women who had used oral contraceptives for the longest period of time became pregnant faster than other women, including non-users (Farrow, 2002). Thus researchers believe that the use of oral contraceptives *improves* a woman's future fertility—their protective effects on ectopic (extrauterine) pregnancies and many reproductive cancers are well known (see Combined Oral Contraceptives Provide Many Health Benefits, below).

Another common misperception is the one that oral contraceptives cause cancer. The opposite is true: The literature clearly shows a *protective* effect of oral contraceptives against many cancers (see Table 1, pp. 14-15). Countless studies have been undertaken to understand oral contraceptives and cancer, including meta-analyses of thousands of women (Marchbanks, 2002; Dumeaux, 2003 & 2005; Kahlenberg, 2006; Kumle, 2005; Vessey, 2006). Nonetheless, there are some unanswered questions regarding any association between oral contraceptives, breast cancer, and cervical cancer. A group of experts gathered by the WHO in 2006 to review the evidence for the Global Handbook concluded that findings are conflicting and difficult to interpret (WHO, 2007b). In general, the increases in risk are slight. Because so few women are affected, and because the health benefits of oral contraceptives are so numerous, the WHO does not recommend changing prescribing practices due to concerns about the increased risk of these cancers (WHO, 2004d).

Where the risks of using contraceptives outweigh the benefits of their use, WHO provides clear guidance on whether the method should be used. A special working group conducts systematic literature reviews on health conditions and contraceptive use, and then brings together a global expert group. This group reviews the evidence and reaches consensus on who can and cannot safely use each contraceptive method. The WHO Medical Eligibility Criteria delineate which contraceptives are contraindicated by certain health conditions (WHO, 2004d).

Key point 3: Modern contraceptive methods have been extensively studied for many years. Their safety has been well established, and risks and benefits are well known.

Combined Oral Contraceptives Provide Many Health Benefits

Combined oral contraceptives provide many health benefits beyond choosing when and if to become pregnant. There is excellent long-term evidence for oral contraceptives' strong protective effect against ovarian and endometrial cancer (Schlesselman, 1995; Hannaford, 2007). Generally, the longer the woman uses combined oral contraceptives, the greater the reduction in risk of these cancers. For example, compared to women who have never used oral contraceptives, the risk of endometrial cancer is reduced by 23% among those taking pills for one year, by 54% for women using pills for 4 years, by 66% for women taking pills for 8 years, and 72% for women using pills for 12 years (Schlesselman, 1995). Recent results from the Royal College of General Practitioners' study—including more than 45,000 women followed for over 30 years—found a 46% reduction in the risk of ovarian cancer among women who had ever used oral contraceptives, when compared to women who had never used pills (Hannaford, 2007).

Research on the many health benefits of oral contraceptives on women's health is summarized below.

| Health | Details and Results from Published Studies | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Condition | Reductions in Risk Compared to Women Using no Contraception | | | | | | |
| | or A Non-hormonal Contraceptive Method | | | | | | |
| Cancers | | | | | | | |
| Endometrial | Endometrial cancer decreases by 40% with short term use and up | | | | | | |
| cancer | to 80% with long term use (>10 years) (McLaughlin, 2007, | | | | | | |
| | Burkman, 2001). | | | | | | |
| Ovarian cancer | Oral contraceptive use for 12 years reduces ovarian cancer risk by | | | | | | |
| | 60% (McLaughlin, 2007). Overall 46% reduction in the risk of | | | | | | |
| | ovarian cancer (Hannaford, 2007). The protective effect lasts even | | | | | | |
| | after contraceptives use stops. | | | | | | |
| Colorectal cancer | Using oral contraceptives for 96 months or longer leads to a 40% | | | | | | |
| | lower risk for colorectal cancer than never using oral | | | | | | |
| | contraceptives (Martinez, 1997; Fernandez, 1998). Ever-users | | | | | | |
| | have a 25% reduction in risk of large bowel or rectal cancer, | | | | | | |
| | compared to never users (Hannaford, 2007). | | | | | | |
| Reproductive Con | ditions | | | | | | |
| Ectopic | Women using oral contraceptives have lower ectopic pregnancy | | | | | | |
| pregnancy | rates than women not using any contraceptive method (Franks, | | | | | | |
| | 1990; Mol, 1999). | | | | | | |
| Pelvic inflam- | Oral contraceptive use for 12 consecutive months decreases | | | | | | |
| matory disease | symptomatic pelvic inflammatory disease by 50-60%; pill users | | | | | | |
| | were 50% less likely to be hospitalized (Pasner, 1991; Rubin, | | | | | | |
| | 1982). | | | | | | |
| Dysfunctional | Oral contraceptives reduce dysfunctional uterine bleeding in a | | | | | | |
| uterine bleeding | randomized controlled trial (Davis, 2000). | | | | | | |
| Ovarian cysts | Oral contraceptives are associated with fewer functional ovarian | | | | | | |
| | cysts in some studies (Holt, 2003). In other studies this reduction | | | | | | |
| | is not very large or significant (Grimes, 2006). | | | | | | |

Table 1. Non-Contraceptive Health Benefits of Combined Oral Contraceptives

Table 1. Non-Contraceptive Health Benefits of Combined Oral Contraceptives (continued)

| Health | Details and Results from Published Studies | | | | | | |
|-------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Condition | Reductions in Risk Compared to Women Using no Contraception | | | | | | |
| | or A Non-hormonal Contraceptive Method | | | | | | |
| Polycystic ovary | Oral contraceptives are the most commonly used treatment for | | | | | | |
| syndrome | polycystic ovary syndrome, reducing androgenic symptoms and | | | | | | |
| | improving menstrual problems associated with this disease | | | | | | |
| | (Vrbikova, 2005). | | | | | | |
| Reproductive Cor | nditions | | | | | | |
| Endometriosis | Oral contraceptives are the first line of treatment for pelvic pain, | | | | | | |
| | heavy menstruation, and other symptoms associated with | | | | | | |
| | endometriosis (Vercillini, 2008). | | | | | | |
| Dysmenorrhea | Some studies have found that oral contraceptives reduce the risk of | | | | | | |
| | dysmenorrhea by 60% (Mishell, 1982). A review of the evidence | | | | | | |
| | found that no conclusions can be made about the efficacy of | | | | | | |
| | commonly used modern lower dose combined oral contraceptives | | | | | | |
| | for dysmenorrhea (Proctor, 2001). | | | | | | |
| Other | | | | | | | |
| Iron deficiency | Women using oral contraceptives have higher iron blood stores | | | | | | |
| anemia | than women not using any contraception (Frasinelli-Gunderson, | | | | | | |
| | 1985; Nilsson, 1967) | | | | | | |
| Bone mineral | Oral contraceptives may increase bone mineral density (Warren, | | | | | | |
| density | 2005). Ever use of OCs was associated with a 25% reduction in hip | | | | | | |
| | fracture risk (Michaelsson, 1999). | | | | | | |
| Acne | Oral contraceptives have been shown in randomized controlled | | | | | | |
| | trials to decrease acne more in the treatment group than in the | | | | | | |
| | placebo group (Redmond, 1997; Lucky, 1997; Arowojolu, 2007). | | | | | | |

Non-contraceptive Benefits of Other Modern Contraceptives

The many health benefits of combined oral contraceptives are indeed striking. As one of the most-researched drugs, much evidence exists about this method. All modern contraceptive methods, however, confer non-contraceptive benefits on the user. Table 2 summarizes the evidence on other methods.

| Method | Health Benefits |
|-------------|---|
| | Details and Results from Published Studies |
| IUD | A review of seven studies found protection against endometrial |
| | cancer among IUD users in six; IUD users have fewer ectopic |
| | pregnancies than women not using any contraceptive method |
| | (Hubacher, 2002; Mishell, 1998; Sivin, 1991; Skjeldestad, 1997; |
| | Franks, 1990; Zhang, 1994; Mol 1995). |
| Condoms | Numerous clinical studies show that condoms can reduce the risk of |
| | a wide variety of sexually transmitted infections, including HIV, |
| | gonorrhea, chlamydia, trichomoniasis, syphilis, genital herpes, HPV |
| | infection and HPV-associated conditions (Steiner, 2007). |
| | |
| | Condom users had lower rates of infertility than non-users (Ness, |
| | 2004). Condoms help protect against ectopic pregnancies (Franks, |
| | 1990; Zhang, 1994; Mol 1995). |
| Progestin- | Help protect against endometrial cancer, uterine fibroids, |
| only | symptomatic pelvic inflammatory disease, iron-deficiency anemia |
| injectables | and ectopic pregnancy; reduces sickle cell crises among women with |
| (Depo- | sickle cell anemia and alleviates pelvic pain due to endometriosis |
| Provera) | (Lumbiganon, 1996; Gray, 1985; World Health Organization, 1998; |
| | de Abood, 1997; Vercellini, 1996; Winkel, 2003; Franks, 1990; |
| | Zhang, 1994; Mol 1995). |
| Implants | Help protect against symptomatic pelvic inflammatory disease, |
| | ectopic pregnancy, and iron-deficiency anemia (Fraser, 2000; Sivin, |
| | 2003; Franks, 1990; Zhang, 1994; Mol 1995). |

Table 2: Non-contraceptive Health Benefits of Other Contraceptives

Key point 4: Most modern contraceptives confer benefits to the health of the user. Benefits include long-term protection from deadly reproductive cancers, and treatment for reproductive and non-reproductive conditions.

Contraceptives, HIV/AIDS and Sexually Transmitted Infections

Condoms

In addition to preventing pregnancies, condoms protect against transmission of sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including HIV (Weller, 2002; Hearst, 2004; Ness, 2004; National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, 2000; Steiner, 2007).

Systematic reviews of the scientific literature undertaken to quantify how effectively male latex condoms prevent HIV transmission found that consistent and correct

condom use prevents 80% to 95% of HIV transmission that would have occurred without condoms (Weller, 2002; Hearst, 2004). This means that condom use prevents 80% to 95% of HIV transmissions that would have occurred without condoms. (It does *not* mean that 5% to 20% of condom users will become infected with HIV.)

Condoms help reduce the risk of other STIs to varying degrees. In general, condoms are most effective against STIs that are spread through discharge, such as HIV, gonorrhea, and chlamydia. However, they also help protect against STIs that are spread through skin-to-skin contact, such as herpes and the human papillomavirus, the precursor to cervical cancer (Steiner, 2007; WHO, 2007b). Furthermore, research found that condom users were less likely to suffer from infertility than non-users (Ness, 2004).

The rate of other STIs also increased in the Region in the 1990s. According to WHO data, syphilis increased from 5.0 in 1990 to 206.8 in 1997 per 100,000 population. This trend has reversed in recent years, with reported incidence of syphilis decreasing to 41.4 per 100,000 in 2006 for the Region. However, new cases of syphilis are still *nine* times those for the EU (WHO, HFA-DB).

Key point 5: The use of condoms protects again HIV and other STIs, including chlamydia and gonorrhea, major causes of infertility.

Hormonal Contraceptives

Conflicting evidence exists on whether hormonal contraceptives increase the risk of STIs, including HIV acquisition. A review of the best studies found a possible increased risk of chlamydial infection associated with the use of combined oral contraceptives and the use of Depo-Provera (Mohllajee, 2006). The WHO Guidelines Family Planning Steering Group also reviewed this evidence and concluded: "new evidence does not modify the current guidance, namely: there are no restrictions on the use of combined oral contraceptives and Depo-Provera by women at high risk of acquiring a STI (WHO, 2005a).

The WHO and partners convened a special meeting in 2005 to discuss any association between hormonal contraceptives and HIV in high-prevalence settings. Based on the findings, the group concluded that there should be no restrictions on the use of combined oral contraceptives and Depo-Provera for women at risk of HIV infection (WHO, 2005b).

HIV/AIDS is a serious concern in the Region. Figure 4 shows the incidence of HIV infection in several countries—that is, the rate at which new HIV infections occurred

during each year in the Region. To put the rates in perspective, data from the EU are also included. HIV incidence rates for Ukraine and the Russian Federation are about five times higher than that in the EU.



Figure 4: HIV Incidence per 100,000 Population

Ukraine has one of the fastest growing HIV/AIDS epidemics in the world, which can pose a threat to the country's development (Zhylka, 2005). The annual new HIV diagnoses in Ukraine have doubled since 2001 (UNAIDS, 2008). Similar increases have been documented recently. HIV prevalence—that is, the proportion of the population with HIV at one point in time—rose from 11.14 per 100,000 in 2000 to 27.52 per 100,000 in 2006 (WHO, HFA-DB).

III. Contraception Reduces Abortion

The 1994 International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo declared that all governments should try to "reduce the recourse to abortion through expanded and improved family planning services" (WHO, 2004b and ICPD). The replacement of abortion with contraception is compelling: Contraception is safer than abortion as a means of fertility control. Furthermore, there is no evidence that shifting from abortion to contraception reduces fertility rates. Thus many countries strive to increase contraceptive use so that fewer abortions are necessary.

WHO/Europe Health for All Database

Increased use of contraception is related to fewer abortions

There is ample evidence that contraceptive use contributes to fewer abortions in the former Soviet countries (Westoff, 2005). Empirical evidence from developed countries shows that countries with higher contraceptive use tend to have lower abortion rates (see Figure 5).

Figure 5. Total Abortion Rate and Prevalence of Modern Contraceptive Methods, Selected Countries, Selected Years



Westoff, 2005

The same pattern—decreasing abortions as a result of increased contraceptive use has been observed through longitudinal analysis of twelve countries in Eastern Europe and Central Asia (Westoff, 2005). During the 1990s, there was an increase in the use of modern contraception in each country. This usually coincided with a steady decrease in abortion rates over the same period of time. Figure 6 shows the trends in contraceptive prevalence rates³ and general abortion rates in Russia over a decade. The outcome is clear: Modern contraceptive use increased by 78%, while concurrently, abortion decreased by 53%.

³ The contraceptive prevalence rate is the percentage of married women of reproductive age (ages 15-49) who are using (or whose partner is using) a contraceptive method at a particular point in time.



Figure 6. Trends in Abortion and Contraception in the Russian Federation

This figure shows the relative trends in abortion and contraceptive prevalence rates, starting from the values reported in 1988, which are considered to be 100%. The general abortion rate is the number of abortions per thousand women age 15-49.

Contraception, Abortion and Fertility

Evidence from Cuba, Denmark, the Netherlands, and the United States suggests that, before fertility declines to a stable level, both abortion and contraceptive use tend to increase (Marston, 2003). Once fertility levels have stabilized at lower levels, contraception replaces abortion as the preferred method of fertility control, and thus does not contribute to continuing declines in fertility.

Several countries in Eastern Europe and the Region recently experienced this phenomenon. With the end of the pronatalist policies of the Ceausescu regime in Romania in 1989, there has been an increase in access to, and use of, reproductive health services. As the level of modern method use—primarily oral contraceptives and condoms—increased by about 25% from 1999 to 2004, the total abortion rate per woman decreased from 2.2 to 0.8. Meanwhile, the total fertility rate remained the same at 1.3 births per women (see Figure 7).

In Ukraine, the total abortion rate fell by half while contraceptive prevalence increased slightly, from 47% to 51%. The fertility rate remained unchanged (see Figure 7). Seemingly modest changes in contraceptive prevalence rates from one survey to another can have a considerable impact on reducing the abortion rates when the uptake is of an effective modern method. From 1999 to 2007, the use of traditional methods with high pregnancy rates decreased 10 percentage points, while use of condoms and oral contraceptives increased. Switching from less effective to more effective methods reduced unintended pregnancies, and thus, fewer abortions took place.

Adapted from Westoff, 2005

Figure 7. Concurrent Changes in the Total Abortion Rate, Modern Method Use, and Total Fertility Rate in Romania, Ukraine, and Georgia



Romania 1999 and 2004 Reproductive Health Surveys



Guttmacher Institute, 2007; Willingness and Ability to Pay Survey, 2004; Ukraine DHS, 2007

Figure 7. Concurrent Changes in the Total Abortion Rate, Modern Method Use, and Total Fertility Rate in Romania, Ukraine, and Georgia



Georgia 1999 and 2005 Reproductive Health Surveys

Historically, Georgia has had one of the highest abortion rates in the world. The recent Reproductive Health Survey found that the total abortion rate has decreased 16% from 3.7 per woman per lifetime in 1999, to 3.1 in 2005. Modern contraceptive use increased from 20% to 27% during this time, with small increases in oral contraceptive, condom, and IUD use. Yet the fertility remained nearly the same. Data from the Region support the premise that contraception replaces abortion without reducing fertility levels.

Key point 6: In low fertility countries—6 of the 12 countries in the Region and many European countries—there is strong evidence that increased use of modern contraception lowers abortion, rather than further lowering fertility.

Health Effects of Abortion

Health Risks of Using Abortion as an Ongoing Way to Regulate Fertility

In 2000, of the 210 million women worldwide who became pregnant, 46 million pregnancies were voluntary terminated by abortion. Forty-one percent of these terminations—19 million in all—took place outside the legal health system, often by unskilled providers or in unhygienic conditions (WHO, 2004b; IPPF, 2006). At the 1994 International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo, governments agreed that abortion is risky and that all governments should try to "reduce the

recourse to abortion through expanded and improved family-planning services" (WHO, 2004b and International Conference on Population and Development, 1994). There are clear negative health implications of unsafe abortions. The most severe include death, sepsis, hemorrhage, genital and abdominal trauma, perforated uterus, and poisoning if harmful substances are ingested. Other possible secondary complications of unsafe abortions include reproductive tract infections, chronic pelvic pain, and pelvic inflammatory disease (Salter, 1993; WHO, 2003b).

Health Effects of Safe and Unsafe Abortion

While the evidence about unsafe abortions seems clear, numerous studies have examined some of the potential negative health effects of safe or uncomplicated abortions, often coming to inconclusive findings. For example, there is concern that abortion may have a negative impact on a woman's future fertility (Ministry of Health Ukraine, 2000 and Steshenko and Irkina, 1999). However, a review of the literature studies found no association between safely induced abortion and secondary infertility⁴ or ectopic pregnancy (Atrash, 1990). The International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF) has concluded that there is no evidence that having an uncomplicated abortion has any bearing on future fertility (IPPF, 2006). Little research has been published on the issue of repeat abortion and effects on future reproduction, and no conclusions can be made (Atrash, 1990). There is a need for understanding this issue better, since repeat abortion is so common in the Region.

In the case where an infection complicates induced abortion, however, there may be some negative effects to a woman's fertility (Atrash, 1990). Little has been published on this issue, thus it is difficult to assess. Nonetheless, the 2006 Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) found that 11% of women who had abortions reported complications of the procedure within 30 days, with 4% reporting complications within six months. Furthermore, the Ukraine Reproductive Health Survey in 1999 found that 5% of women having abortions reported a rehospitalization or extended hospitalization as a result, and 6% of such women reported long-term complications (Kiev International Institute of Sociology, el al., 2001).

To the extent that these complications are related to infection, the procedure may indeed contribute to fertility problems. Older studies have estimated that there are five to nine unsafe abortions in Ukraine per 1,000 women of reproductive age, two to three times the rate of Europe as a whole at three unsafe abortions per 1,000 women (WHO, 2004b, Glasier, 2006). Worldwide, studies indicate that of every five women who have an unsafe abortion, at least one suffers a reproductive tract infection as a result; and some of these infections are serious, leading to infertility (WHO, 2004d).

⁴ Secondary infertility is the inability to conceive or maintain a pregnancy after having successfully done so in the past.

There is some evidence, however, that abortion may have a negative effect on the health of infants born immediately after the abortion. A case-control study in France shows that women with a history of induced abortion were at higher risk of preterm delivery than those with no history of abortion (Moreau, 2005). A few other studies in France (Henriet, 2001) and Germany (Martius, 1998) also found an association with induced abortion and preterm birth. However, a study in China did not find a statistically significant relationship between a history of medically induced abortion and low birth weight for the first subsequent pregnancy (Yimin, 2004). A second Chinese study found that women who had an abortion using mifepristone (an antiprogesterone drug) had lower odds for preterm delivery than women who had no abortion (Chen, 2004).

Previously, conflicting evidence on the effect of abortion on breast cancer created concerns. A meta-analysis in 1996 found that women with a history of induced abortion had a 30% greater risk of breast cancer (Brind, 1996). In 2004 a pooled re-analysis of 53 studies including a total of 83,000 women with breast cancer from 16 countries found that pregnancies that end in spontaneous or induced abortion do not increase a woman's risk of breast cancer (Beral, 2004). The authors concluded that previous retrospective study findings found the opposite likely because women who had developed breast cancer were more likely to disclose an induced abortion than other women. In 2005, the author of the 1996 meta-analysis critically appraised ten prospective studies, and concluded that there is indeed a link between induced abortion and breast cancer (Brind, 2005).

Because of these conflicting findings, organizations convened meetings to try to come to an understanding of this complicated but important issue. The US National Cancer Institute, the British Government and IPPF concluded that there is no association between abortion and breast cancer (National Cancer Institute, 2006; Beral, 2004; IPPF, 2006). The WHO also reviewed this topic, and concluded that if only the most methodologically sound studies were used—that is, the studies least likely to be affected by recall bias—there was no evidence to support the theory that abortion increased the risk of breast cancer (WHO, 2000).

Key point 7: Safe, legal abortions have few long-term health effects. However, to the extent that even legal abortions have complications, they may have negative health effects, including infertility.

Contraception and Abortion: A Comparative Perspective

Levels of Abortion

In the Soviet Union, abortion, along with IUDs, was one of the most commonly used means of fertility control in the Region. In recent years, the abortion ratio (the number of abortions per 1,000 live births) has declined significantly. Recent data from the WHO's Health for All Database shows that the average abortion ratio in the Region decreased from 906 per 1,000 live births in 2000 to 557 per 1,000 live births in 2006, a decline of 40% (WHO, HFA-DB).

Despite the decline in abortions in the Region, the most recent comparative data show that abortion ratios are still quite high compared to other developed countries. The abortion ratio in the Region is 557, compared to that of the EU at 245 (see Figure 8).



Figure 8. Abortion Ratio, Selected Countries, 2000 and 2006

WHO/Europe Health for All Database; Alan Guttmacher for US data

In a global analysis of available data, abortion rates declined most dramatically in Eastern Europe and Central Asia from all of the studied countries between 1996 and 2003 (Sedgh, 2007). The declines in this region are a continuation of a trend that began in the early 1990s (Jones, 2002). In most countries in this region, the declines coincided with increases in access to and use of modern methods of contraception in place of traditional methods (which have played a prominent role in family planning in these countries) and nonuse (CDC, 2003; Marston, 2003; Westoff, 2000) (see Contraceptive Method Mix, p. 26).

Key point 8: While abortion rates have declined in the Region, they are still significantly higher than in Western European countries and the United States.

Contraceptive Method Mix

Looking at the contraceptive method mix in a country—the distribution of contraceptive methods used by a population—can provide many insights about contraceptive use. The method mix reflects method choice, availability, accessibility, and potential biases to use of certain methods. It also helps identify whether the use is concentrated across the most effective, moderately effective, or least effective methods, which influences abortion rates. Lastly, the method mix indicates whether women have a narrow or broad choice of desirable alternatives to abortion. Here we analyze the method mix in the Region, and compare it the method mix in other parts of the world.

The contraceptive method mix in the Region is quite different from that in the EU and the US. Three key differences emerge:

- 1. In general, the use of *modern* contraception in the Region is lower than in EU countries while the use of less effective *traditional* methods—particularly withdrawal—is higher.
- 2. Two-thirds of the countries in the Region rely predominantly on one single contraceptive method which accounts for 50% or more of contraceptive use in the country. This is considered a "skewed" method mix (Sullivan, 2006).
- 3. The bias against certain methods in the Region—namely oral contraceptives is evident when looking at the contraceptive method mix.

1. High Reliance on Ineffective Traditional Methods

Women in the Region still rely heavily on several traditional methods of contraception. In Azerbaijan, for example, one-third of married women rely on withdrawal—the highest of all countries. This represents nearly four times the percentage of women who use IUDs at 9%, the most popular modern method (2006 Azerbaijan DHS). Figure 9 illustrates the difference in reliance on modern and traditional methods for countries in the Region and several European countries.





UN, 2008; CDC, 2003 (for Russia); 2007 Ukraine DHS; 2006 Azerbaijan DHS Western Europe includes Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Switzerland Northern Europe includes Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Sweden, and the United Kingdom

Data were not available for the EU, thus Western and Northern Europe were included as illustrative of contraceptive use patterns in EU countries.

Traditional methods are among the most *in*effective methods of contraception. As such, the reliance on traditional methods is an important contributor to the high abortion rates in the region: Traditional method users are at increased risk of unintended pregnancy—a pregnancy likely to be terminated. In Azerbaijan, withdrawal is the most popular method. The total abortion rate (total number of abortions in an average woman's lifetime) is 2.3 in this country. Figure 5 on p. 19 illustrates the relationship between abortion and traditional method use: The countries with the highest levels of traditional method use (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia) have the highest total abortion rates.

Key point 9: Most developed countries have less use of traditional methods in their method mix, leading to fewer method failures, and consequently, fewer abortions.

2. Skewed Method Mix: Overreliance on a Single Contraceptive Method

In eight of the twelve countries in the Region, over 50% of all contraceptive use is due to use of a single method. In Central Asian countries and Moldova, users rely predominantly on the IUD. In Armenia and Azerbaijan, contraceptive users rely primarily on withdrawal. Method skew in some countries reflects cultural preferences or social norms. Yet such an imbalanced method mix becomes problematic if it stems from restrictive population policies, lack of access to a broad range of methods, or provider bias (Sullivan, 2006).

In contrast, in the two EU countries with such "method skew," the most predominant method is oral contraceptives. Fifty-four percent of all contraceptive users in France and 75% of users in Germany rely on pills (see Annex 1, p. 34). Figure 10 illustrates how one method can predominate all contraceptive use in a country.

Figure 10. Method Mix among Married Women of Reproductive Age, Selected Countries, 1988-2007



Source: UN, 2008; 2006 Azerbaijan DHS; CDC 2003 for the Russian Federation Western Europe includes Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, and Switzerland

3. Low Levels of Oral Contraceptive Use

Use of oral contraceptives as well as other hormonal methods is quite low in the Region. Oral contraceptive use accounts for only 2% to 13% of all contraceptive use. To compare, among selected EU countries, oral contraceptive use ranges from 18% to 75% of all contraceptive use, and are used by one-third of all married women as contraception. Annex 1 on p. 34 presents these data, and Figure 10 above shows how much oral contraceptive use differs between Western countries and the countries in the Region.

Key point 10: Compared to countries in the Region, other developed countries have a very different method mix. Couples in the EU and US are much more likely to rely on oral contraceptives and sterilization, and less likely to use ineffective traditional methods.

IV. Cost Benefit of Family Planning

Family Planning is a Cost-effective Intervention—Especially Compared to Abortion

The World Bank's landmark 1993 report, *Investing in Health* advised that governments, at a minimum, should spend their resources on a package of five essential clinical services considered to be very cost effective. One of these essential interventions was family planning. Family planning "could save as many as 850,000 children from dying every year and eliminate as many as 100,000 of the maternal deaths that occur annually."⁵ Adequate investment in family planning could avert an estimated 3% of the burden of disease worldwide (World Bank, 1993).

Studies show that providing contraceptive services is far more cost-effective than relying on induced abortion to control fertility. When analyzing the cost of contraception and abortion as methods of fertility regulation in Kazakhstan, the cost of providing contraceptives to the government was 3.2 times more effective than the cost of providing abortions (Rani, 2007). (The calculation did not include the capital costs of facilities, costs of treating complications, or costs to the recipient.) The researchers concluded:

"Assuming 80% of all abortions were avoidable through more effective delivery of family planning services, **the savings would be enough to finance all immunization programs** in Kazakhstan or could be directed to providing better family planning services, or towards other public health interventions."

After discovering that the expense of contraception was the primary reason that women in Romania were choosing abortion over contraception, the MOH doubled the fee for abortion in public clinics from \$2 US to \$4 US. (At the time, oral contraceptives cost approximately \$2 US per month, and emergency contraception \$4 US.) In a further effort to spur increases in modern method use, clinics were providing free contraceptives to women after abortion (Johnson, 2004).

⁵ Other highly cost-effective interventions cited in the report were: pregnancy-related care, tuberculosis control, control of sexually transmitted infections, and care for common serious illnesses of young children.

Reducing the cost of family planning to users can lead to a reduction of costs in the health care system—costs that are often not accounted for. These costs include staff, facility, equipment, drugs, supplies, treating complications that result from the procedure, the time for the procedure, overall time spent in the hospital, and overhead costs. Including these costs, the real cost of abortion in Romania was found to vary from \$5-15 US in the public sector to \$12-33 US in the private sector (Horga, 2001).

A costing study in Ukraine calculated that if women who use traditional methods and abortion shifted to using modern contraceptive methods, the result would be a savings of at least \$3.38 million US between 1999 and 2015 (Policy Project, 2005). Similarly, studies conducted by the Ukrainian MOH and international agencies in 2004 and 2005 found cost savings of using contraceptives: Compared to the costs of abortion and abortion-related complications, the cost savings on family planning was valued at more than \$600,000 US per year. Findings from another Ukraine survey calculated that the costs of abortion and management of abortion complications were nearly twice as high as the costs of providing contraception, at \$380,000 US and \$200,000 US, respectively (Zhylka, 2005). Clearly, procuring contraceptives costs governments much less than providing abortions.

Key point 11: Public sector investments in modern contraceptives may be cost-effective because they lead to lower expenditures for abortion and/or abortion-related complications in the public and private sectors.

V. Government Support for Family Planning

Governments Support Family Planning because it Works

Although modern contraception is legal in the Region, access is sometimes limited by the lack of government financing for contraceptives for disadvantaged populations, such as the poor, those with chronic conditions, young people, and others. Many other countries, especially those in the EU, have significant government programs to increase access to contraceptives, especially for low-income populations.

After the International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo in 1994, developed countries agreed to increase allocations to reproductive health programs by \$6.1 billion US annually by 2005 (Semelela, 2006). Many countries in Europe have taken this commitment seriously and invested in strong family planning and reproductive health programs. Table 3 below highlights the details of several of these programs.

Table 3. Government Commitment to Family Planning—Selected Examples Public Provision of Contraceptives in the Region, Europe, and the US

Albania: A key component of the National Contraceptive Security Strategy is the commitment of the Government of Albania (GoA) to increasingly assume the cost of procuring public sector contraceptives and setting the goal to achieve contraceptive independence from donor-supplied products by 2010. The GoA has demonstrated a commitment towards this goal and began budgeting for the procurement of public sector contraceptives in 2008 (John Snow, Inc., 2008).

France: Medical contraceptives (oral contraceptives and IUDs) are reimbursed by the public social security system (Sandier, 2004; Toulemon, 1998). Voluntary surgical sterilization is free of charge (Oddens, 1993). France began a national campaign to promote contraceptive use in 2000, when it was found that abortion rates had stabilized after a period of decline. This program, "Contraception: It's up to you to choose your own," was designed to educate women on contraceptive choices and help them choose the method they would most consistently use (Boonstra, 2000).

Germany: Germany has a comprehensive health insurance policy that ensures virtually universal access to a wide range of health services, including prescription drugs, and family planning services. Specific family planning services are mandated by law. The Social Code sets forth legally required health insurance with explicit rights to medical examinations and prescriptions for birth control devices (Busse, 2004; Center for Reproductive Rights, 1995). Voluntary surgical sterilization is free of charge (Oddens, 1993).

Great Britain: Family planning services are provided free by family doctors and a network of family planning clinics. Contraceptives for certain population groups are fully reimbursed by the National Health Service. A study on contraceptive expenditures found that users in the UK paid nothing for oral contraceptives and IUDs and paid the least for condoms of the countries in the study (Austria, Denmark, Italy, France, Spain, Sweden, and West Germany) (Oddens, 1993).

Italy: The Italian health care system is based on a national health service that provides universal coverage free of charge at the point of service. Contraceptives are provided through both public and private pharmacies (WHO, 2007a).

Romania: Family planning services are included in the minimum package of the public social insurance system, which is provided free to all population groups (insured or not) by public family doctors, family planning clinics, and obstetrician-gynecologists. Contraceptives are procured by government for rural areas and poor

Public Provision of Contraceptives in the Region, Europe, and the US

urban areas, pupils, students, and women with chronic health conditions. In 2001, the Ministry of Public Health introduced a special family planning budget line and consistently increased the budget allocated for contraceptive procurement. Since 2001, when the budget was \$100,000 US, it has continuously increased to \$1.1 million US in 2004 and to \$1.8 million US in 2006 (Romanian Family Health Initiative, 2008).

Sweden: One of the initiatives of the National Institute of Public Health, established in 1992, is a focus on sexual and reproductive health programs. Preventive health care has been integrated into the primary health care system with midwives, district nurses, and general practitioners providing family planning services. There are small fees for all services; however, some services, such as IUDs, are free (Glenngard, 2005; Oddens, 1993).

Ukraine: Ukraine has adopted National Reproductive Health Programs since 1995. The Reproductive Health of the Nation Program includes improving the family planning system as a key objective, and allocates \$18.7 million US over a ten-year period to update the legal and regulatory framework for family planning, procure contraceptives for certain disadvantaged populations, establish a National Family Planning/Reproductive Health Center, ensure postgraduate training on family planning for health workers, conduct public education campaigns, and conduct research (Ukraine Cabinet of Ministers Decree No. 1849, 2006; State Program "Reproductive Health of the Nation").

United States: Family planning services and contraceptive methods are provided at prices based on people's ability to pay in federally funded family planning clinics. The public health insurance program for the poor, Medicaid, pays for family planning services, including contraceptive methods, and many private insurance companies reimburse a significant part of contraceptive costs for their beneficiaries (Alan Guttmacher Institute, 2005 and Benson Gold, 1999). Governments at various levels procure contraceptives for disadvantaged populations. For example, the Washington State health department paid \$1.35 US per cycle for combined oral contraceptives in 2001—about 20 times lower than the price charged by the same manufacturers to a private pharmacy chain (Hatcher, 2004).

Key point 12: Most governments support access to family planning and contraception, developing and developed alike. Rationale for such support include recognition of their many health benefits, their ability to reduce abortion, the cost-benefits to the health care sector, and their support of fundamental human rights.

Conclusion

The family planning and reproductive health situation in former Soviet countries is unique and changing rapidly. Where once abortion was the primary means of making choices about one's fertility, modern contraceptive methods increasingly provide couples with the ability to time, space, and limit their children as they wish.

Despite the rather unique reproductive situation in the Region, the benefits that investments in family planning bring to a nation are evidence here as they are in the rest of the world—from the most impoverished, agrarian nation to the most industrialized, wealthiest country. Each country in the Region has committed to family planning to varying degrees as a strategy to improve the health and well-being of their people. Still, challenges remain to making a broad range of contraceptive methods widely available, accessible, and affordable in the Region. This paper provides evidence that investing in family planning benefits many, reduces overall costs to the health care sector, and can greatly improve the health and well-being of a population. As such, family planning should be a priority for the countries in the Region, as it is a priority for so many other countries in the world.

Annexes

| | | | | | Metho | od of Cont | raception | | |
|------------------------|-------------------|--------|------|------|--------|------------|-----------|---------------------|---------|
| Region Country Year | Δον | Modorn | Dill | | Condom | Fem. | Male | Other | Trad- |
| Region, Country, Tear | Ally | Modern | FIII | 100 | Condom | Steril. | Steril. | Modern ^a | itional |
| Core EU | | | | | | | | | |
| Austria, 1995/96 | 50.8 | 46.8 | 30.8 | 7.3 | 7.2 | 0.0 | 0.5 | 0.0 | 4.1 |
| Belgium, 1991/92 | 78.4 | 74.3 | 46.7 | 5.0 | 4.7 | 10.9 | 7.0 | 0.0 | 4.1 |
| Denmark, 1988 | 78.0 | 72.0 | 26.0 | 11.0 | 22.0 | 5.0 | 5.0 | 3.0 | 6.0 |
| France, 2000 | 81.8 | 76.5 | 43.8 | 21.9 | 4.7 | 5. | 5 | 0.6 | 5.3 |
| Germany, 1992 | 70.1 | 65.6 | 52.6 | 5.3 | 1.1 | 5.5 | 0.5 | 0.6 | 4.5 |
| Italy, 1995/96 | 60.2 ^b | 38.9 | 13.6 | 5.5 | 13.7 | 5.8 | 0.1 | 0.2 | 21.4 |
| Netherlands, 1993 | 78.5 | 75.6 | 49.0 | 3.6 | 7.7 | 4.8 | 10.5 | 0.0 | 2.9 |
| Norway, 1988/89 | 73.8 | 69.2 | 17.8 | 24.1 | 12.5 | 10.4 | 4.1 | 0.4 | 4.6 |
| Spain, 1999 | 71.7 | 66.0 | 13.1 | 6.6 | 27.0 | 10.1 | 9.0 | 0.2 | 5.7 |
| Switzerland, 1994/95 | 82.0 | 77.5 | 34.1 | 6.0 | 14.2 | 13.8 | 8.3 | 0.0 | 4.5 |
| United King., 2005/06 | 82.0 | 82.0 | 26.0 | 7.0 | 25.0 | 14.0 | 20.0 | 9.0 | 8.0 |
| Mathematical Mean | 73.4 | 67.7 | 32.1 | 9.4 | 12.7 | 7.8 | 6.5 | 1.3 | 6.5 |
| Central/Eastern Europe | | | | | | | | | |
| Belarus, 1995 | 50.4 | 42.1 | 6.7 | 29.0 | 4.8 | 0.8 | 0.0 | 0.8 | 8.3 |
| Bulgaria, 1997 | 41.5 | 25.6 | 7.0 | 6.9 | 10.9 | 0. | 2 | 0.8 | 15.7 |
| Czech Rep., 1997 | 72.0 | 62.6 | 23.1 | 13.9 | 12.7 | 7.2 | 5.1 | 0.7 | 9.5 |
| Hungary, 1992/93 | 77.4 | 68.4 | 37.7 | 17.4 | 7.8 | 4.8 | 0.0 | 0.6 | 9.0 |
| Moldova, 2005 | 67.8 | 43.8 | 3.6 | 25.2 | 7.4 | 4.7 | 0.0 | 3.0 | 24 |
| Poland, 1991 | 49.4 | 19.0 | 2.3 | 5.7 | 9.1 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 1.9 | 30.4 |
| Romania, 2004 | 70.0 | 38.0 | 14.0 | 7.0 | 12.0 | 3.0 | 0.0 | 2.0 | 32.0 |
| Russian Fed.,1999 | 73.0 | 53.0 | 7.0 | 25.0 | 16.0 | 2.0 | 0.0 | 3.0 | 20.0 |
| Ukraine, 2007 | 66.7 | 47.5 | 4.8 | 17.7 | 23.8 | 0.6 | 0.0 | 0.5 | 19.1 |
| Mathematical Mean | 63.1 | 44.4 | 11.8 | 16.4 | 11.6 | 2.5 | 0.7 | 1.4 | 18.6 |
| <u>Caucasus</u> | | | | | | | | | |
| Armenia, 2005 | 53.1 | 19.5 | 0.8 | 9.4 | 8.1 | 0.6 | 0.0 | 0.6 | 33.6 |
| Azerbaijan, 2006 | 51.1 | 14.3 | 1.1 | 9.2 | 2.2 | 0.4 | 0.0 | 1.3 | 36.8 |
| Georgia, 2005 | 47.3 | 26.6 | 3.2 | 11.6 | 8.7 | 2.2 | 0.0 | 0.9 | 20.7 |
| Mathematical Mean | 50.5 | 20.1 | 1.7 | 10.1 | 6.3 | 1.1 | 0.0 | 0.9 | 30.4 |

Annex 1: Contraceptive Prevalence, Married Women of Reproductive Age

| | Method of Contraception | | | | | | | | | |
|-----------------------|-------------------------|--------|------|------|--------|---------|---------|--------|---------|--|
| Region, Country, Year | Any | Modern | Pill | IUD | Condom | Fem. | Male | Other | Trad- | |
| | | | | | | Steril. | Steril. | Modern | itional | |
| Central Asia | | | | | | | | | | |
| Kazakhstan, 1999 | 66.1 | 52.7 | 2.4 | 42.0 | 4.5 | 2.8 | 0.0 | 1.0 | 13.5 | |
| Kyrgyzstan, 1997 | 59.5 | 48.9 | 1.7 | 38.2 | 5.7 | 1.8 | 0.0 | 1.4 | 10.7 | |
| Tajikistan, 2005 | 37.9 | 33.1 | 2.1 | 26.3 | 1.4 | 0.4 | 0.4 | 2.4 | 4.9 | |
| Turkmenistan, 2000 | 61.8 | 53.1 | 1.2 | 39.0 | 2.0 | 1.8 | 0.0 | 8.9 | 8.7 | |
| Uzbekistan, 2006 | 64.9 | 59.3 | 2.3 | 49.7 | 2.1 | 2.1 | 0.1 | 3.0 | 5.6 | |
| Mathematical Mean | 58.0 | 49.4 | 1.9 | 39.0 | 3.1 | 1.8 | 0.1 | 3.3 | 8.7 | |
| Baltic States | | | | | | | | | | |
| Estonia, 1994 | 70.3 | 56.4 | 3.9 | 35.9 | 16.1 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 13.8 | |
| Latvia, 1995 | 48.0 | 39.3 | 8.0 | 19.8 | 9.6 | 1. | 5 | 0.0 | 8.7 | |
| Lithuania, 1994/5 | 46.6 | 30.5 | 3.2 | 13.9 | 13.1 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 0.0 | 16.0 | |
| Mathematical Mean | 54.9 | 42.1 | 5.0 | 23.2 | 12.9 | .5 | 0.0 | 0 | 12.8 | |
| Core EU | 73.4 | 67.7 | 32.1 | 9.4 | 12.7 | 7.8 | 6.5 | 1.3 | 6.5 | |
| Former Soviet Union | 58.7 | 41.7 | 6.8 | 22.1 | 8.9 | 1.9 | 0.1 | 1.6 | 17.1 | |

All methods may not add to the total because some women use more than one method of contraception.

^a Other modern methods include vaginal barrier methods (diaphragm, cervical caps and spermicidal foams, jelly, cream and sponges), emergency contraception, female condom, and other modern methods not reported separately.

^b Includes some cases of sterilization for non-contraceptive reasons.

Data for Core EU, Central/Eastern European countries (except the Russian Federation and Ukraine), Caucasus (except Azerbaijan), and Central Asia are from UN, 2007 World Contraceptive Use. Data are for women ages 15-49.

Data for the Russian Federation are from CDC, 2003, and are for women ages 15-44 from three urban oblasts.

Data for Ukraine are from the 2007 Ukraine Demographic and Health Survey, for women ages 15-44 (Ukraine Center for Social Reforms, State Statistical Committee, Ministry of Health, Measure DHS, June 2008).

Data for Azerbaijan are from the 2006 Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Survey for women ages 15-44 years.

| | Abortions per 1,000 live births | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------|------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Region and Country | <20 years | >35 years | All ages | | | | | |
| Core EU | - | - | - | | | | | |
| Britain | 841 ^b | 215 ^b | 279 ^b | | | | | |
| France | 1883 ^a | 307 ^a | 275 ^a | | | | | |
| Germany | 855 | 175 | 178 | | | | | |
| Spain | 964 ^b | 143 ^b | 197 [°] | | | | | |
| Italy | 1145 ^b | 271 ^b | 244 ^b | | | | | |
| Denmark | 2834 [°] | 322 ^c | 237 ^b | | | | | |
| Norway | 1843 | 255 | 241 | | | | | |
| Sweden | 4165 ^b | 363 ^b | 345 [°] | | | | | |
| Austria | | | | | | | | |
| Belgium | | | 141 ^c | | | | | |
| Netherlands | 1542 ^c | 163 [°] | 153 [°] | | | | | |
| Switzerland | | | 148 ^c | | | | | |
| Central/Eastern Europe | | | | | | | | |
| Russia | | | 951 | | | | | |
| Czech Republic | 663 | 622 | 240 | | | | | |
| Bulgaria | 357 | 1289 | 504 | | | | | |
| Hungary | 898 | 860 | 464 | | | | | |
| Poland | | | 1 | | | | | |
| Romania | 598 | 1629 | 685 | | | | | |
| Ukraine | 468 | 1575 | 499 | | | | | |
| Moldova | 289 | 1120 | 419 | | | | | |
| Belarus | 698 | 1793 | 605 | | | | | |
| Caucasus | | | | | | | | |
| Armenia | 133 | 1691 | 296 | | | | | |
| Azerbaijan | 48 | 448 | 140 | | | | | |
| Georgia | 208 | 761 | 443 | | | | | |
| Central Asia | | | | | | | | |
| Kazakhstan | 284 | 760 | 433 | | | | | |
| Kyrgyzstan | 135 | 163 | 97 | | | | | |
| Turkmenistan | | | 154 | | | | | |
| Tajikistan | 23 | 217 | 54 | | | | | |
| Uzbekistan | 109 ^c | 1073° | 85° | | | | | |
| Baltic States | | | | | | | | |
| Estonia | 1188 | 1037 | 631 | | | | | |
| Latvia | 705 | 1088 | 530 | | | | | |
| Lithuania | 351 | 714 | 305 | | | | | |
| Core EU | 1786 | 246 | 222 | | | | | |
| Former Soviet Union | 421 | 991 | 374 | | | | | |
| Source: WHO, Health for All Dat | abase | | | | | | | |
| a Data for 2003 | | | | | | | | |
| b Data for 2004 | | | | | | | | |

Annex 2. Abortion Ratios in an International Context, 2006 Core EU Countries and Central/Eastern European Countries

c Data for 2005

References

Akmatov, M., Mikolajczyk, R, and Kramer, A. Determinants of neonatal and under-three mortality in Central Asian countries: Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan. GMS Medizinische Informatik, Biometrie und Epidemiologie 2 (article 8). 2006. <u>http://www.egms.de/pdf/journals/mibe/2006-2/mibe000027.pdf</u>

Tunick, B. Issues in Brief: Risks and Realities of Early Childbearing Worldwide. New York, NY: Alan Guttmacher Institute. December 1996. <u>http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-</u> wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/icswpd/exec/icswppro.dll&QF0=DocNo&QI0=121683&TN=Popline&AC=QBE_QUERY&MR=30%25DL=1 &&RL=1&&RF=LongRecordDisplay&DF=LongRecordDisplay

Alan Guttmacher Institute. Sharing Responsibility: Women, Society and Abortion Worldwide. New York, NY: Alan Guttmacher Institute. 1999. <u>http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/sharing.pdf</u>

Alan Guttmacher Institute. Facts in Brief. Teenagers' Sexual and Reproductive Health: Developed Countries. New York, NY: Alan Guttmacher Institute. January 2001. <u>http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/fb_teens.html</u>

Aliyu, MH, Jolly, PE, Ehiri, JE et al. High Parity and Adverse Birth Outcomes: Exploring the Maze. Birth. 32:1 March 2005. 45-59. http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/journal/118656078/abstract?CRETRY=1&SRETRY=0

Arowojolu AO, Gallo MF, Lopez LM, Grimes DA, Garner SE. Combined oral contraceptive pills for treatment of acne. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004425. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004425.pub3. 2007. <u>http://www.mrw.interscience.wiley.com.ezp1.harvard.edu/</u>cochrane/clsysrev/articles/CD004425/frame.html

Atrash HK and Hogue CJ. The effect of pregnancy termination on future reproduction. Bailliere's Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology. June 1990, 4(2):391-405. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2225607</u>

Bateman BT, Simpson LL. Higher rate of stillbirth at the extremes of reproductive age: a large nationwide sample of deliveries in the United States. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. March 2006; 194:840-5. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16522422</u>

Beral V, Bull D, Doll R, Peto R, Reeves G. Collaborative Group on Hormonal Factors in Breast Cancer. Breast cancer and abortion: collaborative reanalysis of data from 53 epidemiological studies, including 83, 000 women with breast cancer from 16 countries. Lancet. 2004 Mar 27;363(9414):1007-16. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15051280?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2. PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed ResultsPanel.Pubmed DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed RVDocSum

Benson Gold, R. State Effort to Expand Medicaid-Funded Family Planning Show Promise. The Guttmacher Report on Public Policy. April 1999. Vol 2, No. 2. http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/tgr/02/2/gr020208.html

Boonstra, H. Promoting contraceptive use and choice: France's approach to teen pregnancy and abortion. The Guttmacher Report on Public Policy. June 2000. Vol 3, No. 3. http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/tgr/03/3/gr030303.pdf

Botting, B, Rosato, M, and Wood, R. Teenage mothers and the health of their children. Population Trends. Autumn 1998 (93): 19-28. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9795977</u> Brind, J et al., Induced abortion as an independent risk factor for breast cancer: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 1996. 50 (5):481-496. http://jech.bmj.com/cgi/content/abstract/50/5/481 Brind, J. Induced abortion as an independent risk factor for breast cancer: a critical review of recent studies based on prospective data. Journal of American Physicians and Surgeons. Winter 2005. 10(4). http://www.jpands.org/vol10no4/brind.pdf

Burkman, RT, Collins, JA, Shulman, LP, and Williams, JK. Current Perspectives on Oral Contraceptive Use. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. August 2001. 185(2): S4-S12. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11521117?ordinalpos=10&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum</u>

Busse, R and Riesberg, A. Health Care Systems in Transition: Germany. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Vol. 6(9). 2004. <u>http://www.hpm.org/Downloads/HiT_Germany_2005.pdf</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), USAID, and Measure DHS+. Reproductive, Maternal and Child Health in Eastern Europe and Eurasia: A Comparative Report. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. April 2003. http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/OD28/00FrontMatter.pdf

Center for Reproductive Rights. 1995. Women of the World: Formal Laws and Policies Affecting Their Reproductive Lives. <u>http://reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/China 0.pdf</u>

Charreau I, Plu-Bureau G, Bachelot A, et al. Oral contraceptive use and risk of benign breast disease in a French case-control study of young women. European Journal of Cancer Prevention 1993; 2:147-54. http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=4928092

Chen, LC, Melita C., Gesche, Shamsa Ahmed, AI Chowdhury, and WH Mosley. 1974. Maternal mortality in rural Bangladesh. Studies in Family Planning 5, no. 11:334-341.

Chen A et al., Mifepristone-induced early abortion and outcome of subsequent wanted pregnancy. American Journal of Epidemiology, 2004, 160(2):110-117. <u>http://aje.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/160/2/110</u>

Cromer, C, and Seltzer, J. Reproductive Health Strategies for Ukraine. 1999-2002. Takoma Park, MD: Monitoring, Evaluation and Design Support (MEDS) Project and USAID, June 1999.

Conde-Agudelo, A, and Belizan, JM. Maternal Morbidity and mortality associated with interpregnancy interval: cross sectional study. 2000. British Medical Journal; 321;1255-1259. http://www.bmj.com/cgi/content/abstract/321/7271/1255

Davis A, Goodwin A, Lippman J, Olson W, Kafrissen M. Triphasic norgestimate-ethinyl estradiol for treating dysfunctional uterine bleeding. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2000; 96:913-20. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11084177

De Abood, M., De Castillo, Z., Guerrero, F., Espino, M., and Austin, K.L. Effect of Depo-Provera or Microgynon on the painful crises of sickle cell anemia patients. Contraception, 56, No. 5. 1997 Nov. 313-6 p. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9437560</u>

Donnay F. Maternal survival in developing countries: what has been done, what can be achieved in the next decade. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2000; 70: 89-97. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10884537

Dumeaux V, Alsaker E, Lund E. Breast cancer and specific types of oral contraceptives: a large Norwegian cohort study. International Journal of Cancer. 2003 Jul 20;105(6):844-50.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12767072?ordinalpos=12&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Dumeaux V, Fournier A, Lund E, Clavel-Chapelon F. Previous oral contraceptive use and breast cancer risk according to hormone replacement therapy use among postmenopausal women.

Cancer Causes Control. 2005 Jun;16(5):537-44.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15986108?ordinalpos=10&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Family Care International. Global Sexual and Reproductive Health: highlights. http://www.familycareintl.org/en/issues/24. Accessed April 9, 2007.

Fernandez E, La Vecchia C, Franceschi S, Braga C, Talamini R, Negri E, et al. Oral contraceptive use and risk of colorectal cancer. Epidemiology 1998; 9: 295-300. <u>http://www.biomedexperts.com/Abstract.bme/</u>9583422/Oral_contraceptive_use_and_risk_of_colorectal_cancer

Franks A, Beral V, Cates W Jr, Hogue CJR. Contraception and ectopic pregnancy risk. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 1990; 163: 1120-3. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2220914?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubm ed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Fraser, I.S., Weisberg, E., Minehan, E., and Johansson, E.D. A detailed analysis of menstrual blood loss in women using Norplant and Nestorone progestogen-only contraceptive implants or vaginal rings. Contraception 61(4): 241-51. April 2000. <u>http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=1431635</u>

Frassinelli-Cunderson, EP, Marcen, S, and Brown, IR. Iron stores in users of oral contraceptive agents. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 41(4): 703-71 2. April 1985. http://www.ajcn.org/cgi/content/abstract/41/4/703

Fretts RC. Etiology and prevention of stillbirth. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2005; 193: 1923-35. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16325593?ordinalpos=2&itool=Entrez</u> System2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Friedenreich, C et al. 2007. Anthropometric factors and risk of endometrial cancer: the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Cancer Causes Control. DOI 10.1007/s10552-006-0113-8. http://cat.inist.fr/?aModel=afficheN&cpsidt=18835969

Fuentes-Afflick, E. and Hessol, NA. Interpregnancy interval and the risk of premature infants. Obstetrics and Gynecology 95 (3): 383-390. March 2000. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10711549?ordinalpos=&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubm ed ResultsPanel.SmartSearch&log\$=citationsensor

Gallo MF, Lopez LM, Grimes DA, Schulz KF, Helmerhorst FM. Combination contraceptives: effects on weight. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2008, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD003987. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003987.pub3. http://www.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab003987.html

Gardner, MB. 1983. Facts about Oral Contraceptives. Office of Research Reporting, National Institutes of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD).

Gasco, M, Wright, C, Patruleasa, M, and Hedgecock, D. 2006. Romania: Scaling Up Integrated Family planning Services: A Case Study. Arlington, VA.: DELIVER, for the U.S. Agency for International Development. <u>http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/icswpro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics</u>

Leslie Allison Gillum; Sai Kumar Mamidipudi; S. Claiborne Johnston. Ischemic Stroke Risk With Oral Contraceptives: A Meta-analysis. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2000;284(1):72-78 (doi:10.1001/jama.284.1.72). http://jama.ama-assn.org/cgi/content/full/284/1/72

Glasier, A, Gulmezoglu, AM, Schmid, GP, Garcia Moreno, C, Van Look PFA. Sexual and reproductive health: a matter of life and death. Lancet. 2006 Nov 4; 368 (9547): 1595-607. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/articles/article1.pdf

Glenngard,AH., Hjalte, F, Svensson, M, Anell, A, and Bankauskaite V. 2005. Health Systems in Transition: Sweden. WHO, European Observatory on Health Systems. <u>http://www.euro.who.int/document/e88669.pdf</u>

Gold, R. B. Issues in Brief: Medicaid Family Planning Expansions Hit Stride. New York, NY: Alan Guttmacher Institute. 2004. Vol 6, No 4. <u>http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/tgr/06/4/gr060411.html</u>

Gray, R.H. Reduced risk of pelvic inflammatory disease with injectable contraceptives. Lancet 1(8436): 1046. May 4, 1985. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2859496?ordinalpos=6&itool=</u> EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed_Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Gribble, J.N. Birth intervals, gestational age, and low birth weight: Are the relationships confounded? Population Studies 47(1): 133-146. Mar. 1993. <u>http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?</u> <u>BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll&QF0=DocNo&QI0=090671&TN=Popline</u> <u>&AC=QBE_QUERY&MR=30%25DL=1&&RL=1&&RF=LongRecordDisplay&DF=LongRecordDisplay</u>

Grimes DA, Jones LB, Lopez LM, Schulz KF. Oral contraceptives for functional ovarian cysts. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD006134. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006134.pub2. <u>http://www.mrw.interscience.wiley.com.</u> ezp1.harvard.edu/cochrane/clsysrev/articles/CD006134/frame.html

Guillebaud, J. 2004. Contraception: Your Questions Answered. 4th ed. Churchill Livingstone. 588 p.

Hannaford, PC., Selvaraj, S, Elliott, AM, Angus, V, Iversen, L, Lee, AJ. Cancer risk among users of oral contraceptives: cohort data from the Royal college of General Practitioner's oral contraceptive study. British Medical Journal published online 11 Sep 2007; doi: 10.1136/British Medical Journal.39289.6494 10.55. http://www.bmj.com/cgi/content/abstract/335/7621/651

Hanson, JP. Older maternal age and pregnancy outcome: a review of the literature. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey. 1986;41:726-42. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2950347</u>

Hatcher, RA., Trussell, J, Stewart, F, Nelson, A, Cates, W, Guest, F, and Kowal, D. Contraceptive Technology. Eighteenth Revised Edition. Ardent Media, Inc. New York. 2004.

Health Policy Initiative (Constella Futures and USAID), unpublished data, 2007.

Hearst N, Chen S. Condom promotion for AIDS prevention in the developing world: is it working? *Stud Fam Plann* 2004;35(1):39-47. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15067787</u>

Heaton, TB, Forste, R, Hoffman JP, Flaked, D. 2005. Cross-national variation in family influences on child health. Social Science and Medicine 60: 97-108. <u>http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=16379649</u>

Henriet L and Kaminski M. Impact of induced abortions on subsequent pregnancy outcome: the 1995 French national prenatal survey. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 2001, 108 (10):1036-1042. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11702834?ordinalpos=2&itool=EntrezSystem2.</u> <u>PEntrez.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum</u>

Holmes, K, Levine R, Weaver M. Effectiveness of condoms in preventing sexually transmitted infections. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. Geneva. June 2004. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15356939 Holt VL, et al. 2003. Oral contraceptives, tubal sterilization, and functional ovarian cyst risk. Obstet Gynecol August 2003; 102:252-8. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12907096?ordinalpos=1&itool=Entrez</u> System2.PEntrez.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Horga, M. Contraception and abortion in Romania: background paper for the strategic assessment of policy, programme and research issues related to pregnancy termination in Romania. 2001 (unpublished).

Huang L, Sauve R, Birkett N, Fergusson D, van Walraven C. Maternal age and risk of stillbirth: a systematic review. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2008 Jan 15;178(2):165-72.

Hubacher D, Grimes DA. Noncontraceptive health benefits of intrauterine devices: A systematic review. Obstetrical and Gynecological Survey. 2002;57(2):120-128. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18195290</u>

Hudgins, T and Wright, C. 2004. Ukraine Contraceptive Availability Assessment. John Snow, Inc. and USAID. <u>http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll&QF0=DocNo&QI0=286140&TN=Popline&AC=QBE_QUERY&MR=30%25DL=1 && RL=1& RF=LongRecordDisplay&DF=LongRecordDisplay</u>

Human Rights Watch, 2005. Opportunity for Reform: Human Rights Agenda for Ukraine. From Human Rights News. <u>http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2005/01/20/opportunity-reform-human-rights-agenda-ukraine</u>

International Conference on Population and Development. 1994. Programme of Action. <u>http://www.un.org/popin/icpd/conference/offeng/poa.html</u>

International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). Press Release: No. 2006.10.04 (Published: 2006.10.4). "United Nations General Assembly Adopts "Universal Access" Target for Reproductive Health." 2006. http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL_eng.pdf

International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF). IMAP Statement on safe abortion. IPPF Medical Bulletin. Volume 40, Number 3, September 2006. http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL_eng.pdf

Jacobsson, B, Ladfors, L, Milsom, I. Advanced Maternal Age and Adverse Perinatal Outcome. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2004: 104: 727-33. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15458893</u>

John Snow, Inc. Europe and Eurasia Regional Family Planning Activity: Financial Sustainability of Contraceptives. Albania. 2008.

Johnson, BR., Horga, M, Fajans, P. 2004. A Strategic Assessment of Abortion and Contraception in Romania. Reproductive Health Matters; 12(24 Supplement): 184-194. <u>http://whocc.who.ch/reproductive-health/publications/abortion_contraception_romania/text.pdf</u>

Jones RK, Darroch JE and Henshaw SK. Patterns in the socioeconomic characteristics of women obtaining abortions in 2000–2001. Perspectives on Sexual and Reproductive Health, 2002, 34(5):226–235. http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3422602.html

Jorgensen, C, Picot MC, Bologna C, Sany J. Oral Contraception, parity, breast feeding, and severity of rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 1996;55:94-98. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1010101

Kahlenborn C, Modugno F, Potter DM, Severs WB. Oral contraceptive use as a risk factor for premenstrual breast cancer: A meta-analysis. Mayo Clinic Proceedings. 2006;81:1290-1302. http://www.mayoclinicproceedings.com/content/81/10/1290.long

Kaunitz, Andrew M. Oral contraceptive health benefits: perception versus reality. Contraception; 59(1) Supplement 1, January 1999: 29S-33S. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10342094</u>

Kiev International Institute of Sociology. 1999 Ukraine Reproductive Health Survey. Final Report, 2001. In collaboration with CDC and USAID. http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL_eng.pdf

Koniak-Griffin D, Turner-Pluta C. Health risks and psychosocial outcomes of early childbearing: a review of the literature. Journal of Perinatal and Neonatal Nursing. 2001 Sep;15(2):1-17. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12095025

Kumle M, et al. Use of oral contraceptives and breast cancer risk: The Norwegian-Swedish women's lifestyle and health cohort study. Cancer Epidemiology 2002; 11:1375-1381. http://cebp.aacrjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/11/11/1375

Lucas, D, and P Meyer. Beginning Population Studies. Australian National University National Centre for Development Studies. 1999. 199 p.

Lucky AW, Henderson TA, Olson WA, et al. Effectiveness of norgestimate and ethinyl estradiol in treating moderate acne vulgaris. Journal of American Academy of Dermatology 1997;37:746-54. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9366821

Lumbiganon, P., Rugpao, S., Phandhu-Fung, S., Laopaiboon, M., Vudhikamraksa, N., and Werawatakul, Y. Protective effect of depot-medroxyprogesterone acetate on surgically treated uterine leiomyomas: a multicentre case--control study. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 103(9): 909-14. Sep 1996. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8813312?ordinalpos=1&itool= EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed_Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Martinez, ME, Grodstein F, Giovannucci E, Colditz GA, Speizer FE, Hennekens C et al. A prospective study of reproductive factors, oral contraceptives use, and risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiological Biomarkers Prevalence 1997; 6:1-5. <u>http://cebp.aacrjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/6/1/1</u> Marchbanks, PA. McDonald, JA., Wilson, HG. et al. Oral contraceptives and Risk of Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, June 2002 Volume 346:2025-2032. http://content.nejm.org/cgi/content/abstract/346/26/2025

Martius JA et al. Risk factors associated with preterm and early term birth: univariate and multivariate analysis of 106,345 singleton births from the 1994 statewide perinatal survey of Bavaria. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology, 1998, 80(2):183-189. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9846665

Marston, C, and Cleland, T. 2003. Relationships Between Contraception and Abortion: A Review of the Evidence. International Family Planning Perspectives. Volume 29(1): 6-13. http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/2900603.html

McLaughlin, JR., Harvey, AR, Lubinski, J, et al. 2007. Reproductive risk factors for ovarian cancer in carriers of BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations: a case-control study. Lancet Oncology; 8:26-34. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17196508

Michaelsson, K., Baron, J.A., Farahmand, B.Y., Persson, I., and Ljunghall, S. Oral-contraceptive use and risk of hip fracture: a case-control study. Lancet 353(9163): 1481-4. May 1 1999. http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(98)09044-8/fulltext

MICS Global Team, et al. Tajikistan Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey. 2005. 266 p. <u>http://www.childinfo.org/mics/mics3/archives/tajikistan/survey0/technicalInformation/documentation.html</u>

Mishell Jr, D.R. Noncontraceptive health benefits of oral steroidal contraceptives. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 142 (1982), pp. 809–816. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7065059</u>

Ministry of Health of Ukraine. National Reproductive Health Program 2001-2005, Draft, Dec. 2000. http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/icswpd/exec/icswppro.dll&QF0=DocNo&QI0=275013&TN=Popline&AC=QBE_QUERY&MR=30%25DL=1 &&RL=1&&RF=LongRecordDisplay&DF=LongRecordDisplay

Mishell DR. Intrauterine devices: Mechanisms of action, safety, and efficacy. Contraception 1998; 58 (Suppl 1)(3):45S-53S. <u>http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0010782498000821</u>

Mol, BWJ, Van der Veen F, Bossuyt PM. 1999. Implementation of probabilistic decision rules improves the predictive values of algorithms in the diagnostic management of ectopic pregnancy. Human Reproduction Vol:14: 2855-62. <u>http://humrep.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/abstract/14/11/2855</u>

Moreau C et al., Previous induced abortion and the risk of very preterm delivery: results of EPIPAGE study. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2005, 112(4):430-437. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15777440

Muscato, L and Kidd, RS. Contraception and abortion attitudes and practices of Western Ukraine women. The European Journal of Contraception and Reproductive Health Care 2003; 8:80-86. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12831605?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed_Pubmed_ResultsPane l.Pubmed_DiscoveryPanel.Pubmed_Discovery_RA&linkpos=2&log\$=relatedarticles&logdbfrom=pubmed

National Cancer Institute, Summary Report: early reproductive events and breast cancer workshop, 2003. http://www.cancer.gov/cancerinfo/ere-workshop-report, accessed July 25, 2006.

National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health (NAID), Department of Health and Human Services. Workshop summary: Scientific evidence on condom effectiveness for sexually transmitted disease (STD) prevention: NIAD, NIH, 2000: 46p. http://www3.niaid.nih.gov/about/organization/dmid/PDF/condomReport.pdf

Ness RB, Randall H, Richter HE, Peipert JF, Montagno A, et al. Condom use and the risk of recurrent pelvic inflammatory disease, chronic pelvic pain, or infertility following an episode of pelvic inflammatory disease. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; 94(8):1327-1329. <u>http://www.aiph.org/cgi/content/abstract/94/8/1327</u>

Nilsson L, Sölvell L. Clinical studies on oral contraceptives--a randomized, doubleblind, crossover study of 4 different preparations (Anovlar mite, Lyndiol mite, Ovulen, and Volidan). Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 1967;46(8):Suppl 8:1-31. <u>http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.</u>

Oddens, B.J. 1993. Evaluation of the effect of contraceptive prices on demand in eight Western European Countries. Advanced Contraception. Volume 9(1):1-11. http://www.springerlink.com/content/y7k2n03225215r09/

ORC Macro, 2007. MEASURE DHS STATcompiler. http://www.measuredhs.com on August 5 2007.

Pasner LA, Phipps WR. Type of oral contraceptive in relation to acute, initial episodes of pelvic inflammatory disease. Contraception 1991; 43:91-99. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2004531</u>

Policy Project. 2005. Application of the Allocate Model in Ukraine. Washington, DC. Policy Project.

Proctor ML, Roberts H, Farquhar CM, Wong CL. Combined oral contraceptive pill (OCP) as treatment for primary dysmenorrhoea. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2001, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD002120. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002120.

http://www.mrw.interscience.wiley.com.ezp1.harvard.edu/cochrane/clsysrev/articles/CD002120/frame.html

Rani M, Chao S, Arystanova G, Rakhimova M. Fertility Regulation in Kazkahstan: The Role of Providers and the Public Financial Cost. HNP Discussion Paper. UNFPA and World Bank. November 2006. <u>http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2007/02/21/</u> 000020953 20070221111111/Rendered/PDF/386830KZ0Fertility0Regulation01PUBLIC1.pdf

Redmond GP, Olson WH, Lippman JS, et al. Norgestimate and ethinyl estradiol in the treatment of acne vulgaris: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Obstetrics and Gynecology 1997; 89:615-22. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9083323

Rohan, TE and AB Miller. A cohort study of oral contraceptive use and risk of benign breast cancer. International Journal of Cancer. July 1999; 82 (2): 191-196. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10389751?ordinalpos=1&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_Pubmed_Pubmed_RVDocSum</u>

Royal College of General Practitioners. Oral contraception and thrombo-embolic disease. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners 13: 267-279. 1976. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/picrender.fcgi?artid=2236354&blobtype=pdf

Royal College of General Practitioners. Oral contraception, venous thrombosis, and varicose vein. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners 28(192): 393-399. July 1978. <u>http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/picrender.fcgi?artid=2158790&blobtype=pdf</u> Rubin GL, Ory HW, Layde PM. Oral contraceptives and pelvic inflammatory disease. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1982 Nov 15;144(6):630-5. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7137247</u>

Rutstein, S. Further Evidence of the Effects of Preceding Birth Intervals on Neonatal, Infant, and Under-Five-Years Mortality and Nutritional Status in Developing Countries, September 2008. 78 p. <u>http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/WP41/wP41.pdf</u>

Salter, C., Johnson, H.B., and Hengen, N. *Care for postabortion complications: Saving women's lives. Population Reports*, Series L, No. 10. Baltimore, Johns Hopkins School of Public Health, Population Information Program, June 1993. <u>http://www.infoforhealth.org/pr/110/110creds.shtml</u>

Sandier, S, Paris, V, and Polton, D. 2004. Health Care Systems in Transition: France. WHO, European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. <u>http://www.euro.who.int/document/e83126.pdf</u>

Schlesselman, JJ. Net effect of oral contraceptive use on the risk of cancer in women in the United States. Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1995; 85:793-801. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7724116</u>

Sedgh, G, Henshaw, S, Singh, S, Bankole, A, and Dreshcer, J. Legal Abortion Worldwide: Incidence and Recent Trends; International Family Planning Perspectives. Volume 33, Number 3, September 2007. http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3310607.html

Semelela, N. 2006. Women's access to modern methods of fertility regulation. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Vol. 94:292-300. http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL eng.pdf

Sivin I. Dose- and age-dependent ectopic pregnancy risks with intrauterine contraception. Obstetrics and Gynecology 1991; 78:291-298.

Sivin, I. Risks and benefits, advantages and disadvantages of levonorgestrel-releasing contraceptive implants. Drug Saf 26(5): 303-35. 2003. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12650633</u>

Skjeldestad FE. How effectively do copper intrauterine devices prevent ectopic pregnancy? Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 1997;76(7):684-690.

http://db.jhuccp.org/ics-wpd/exec/icswppro.dll?BU=http://db.jhuccp.org/icswpd/exec/icswppro.dll&QF0=DocNo&QI0=128168&TN=Popline&AC=QBE_QUERY&MR=30%25DL=1 &&RL=1&&RF=LongRecordDisplay&DF=LongRecordDisplay

Snider, S. 1990. The Pill: 30 years of safety concerns. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. http://www.fda.gov/bbs/topics/CONSUMER/CON00027.html

State Statistical Committee (SSC) [Azerbaijan] and Macro International Inc. 2008. Azerbaijan Demographic and Health Survey 2006. Calverton, Maryland, State Statistical Committee and Macro International Inc. http://apps.who.int/infobase/mddetails.aspx?surveycode=102819g1

Steiner, MJ, Warner, L, Stone, KM, and Cates Jr, W. Condoms and Other Barrier Method for Prevention of STD/HIV Infection and Pregnancy. In KK Holmes, Ed. Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 4th Ed. 2007. pp. 1821-1830.

Sullivan, TM et al. Skewed contraceptive method mix: why it happens, why it matters. Journal of Biosoc Science. Jul 2006; 38(4): 501-21.

http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstract;jsessionid=ED633BB8C752C30FCC5D150C1C350009 .tomcat1?fromPage=online&aid=445870

Steshenko, V and Irkina, T. Some aspects of the Demographic Situation in Ukraine: Reproductive Health and Family Planning. United Nations and Government of Ukraine. 1999. http://ukraine.usaid.gov/lib/repro_health/demo_aspects.pdf

Toulemon, L, and Leridon, H. Contraceptive Practices and Trends in France. Family Planning Perspectives. 1998. 30(3): 114-120. <u>http://www.guttmacher.org/pubs/journals/3011498.pdf</u>

Together for Health. 2006. Report of the Focus Group Discussions (FGDs). JSI, Ukraine. <u>http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL_eng.pdf</u>

Treffers PE, Olukoya AA, Ferguson BJ, Liljestrand J. Care for adolescent pregnancy and childbirth. International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics. 2001. Nov;75(2):111-21. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S002072920100368X

Trussell J. Contraceptive efficacy. In: Hatcher R et al., editors. Contraceptive technology. 19th revised ed. 2007.

Ukraine Cabinet of Ministers Decree No. 1849, December 27, 2006, "Reproductive Health of the Nation Program up to 2015." <u>http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/ihsp/publications/pdf/Advocacy%20Package-FINAL-FINAL_eng.pdf</u>

Ukraine State Statistics Committee, "Survey on the Willingness and Ability to Pay for Contraceptives in Ukraine, 2004," Kiev, 2004-2005.

United Nations, 2005a. World Contraceptive Use 2005. New York, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, United Nations, 2005.

United Nations, World Population Prospects, the 2006 Revision, Population Database, Population Division, United Nations, 2000, 2004.

United Nations, World Population Prospects, the 2006 Revision Population Database, Population Division, United Nations, 2007.

United Nations. World Contraceptive Use 2007 datasheet. 2008. http://www.un.org/esa/population/publications/contraceptive2007/contraceptive_2007_table.pdf

UNAIDS. Position Statement on Condoms and HIV Prevention, July 2004. http://data.unaids.org/una-docs/condom-policy_jul04_en.pdf

UNAIDS. 2008 Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic. 2008. 357 p. http://www.unaids.org/en/KnowledgeCentre/HIVData/GlobalReport/2008/2008 Global report.asp

UNFPA. UNFPA Annual Report 1997. Adolescent Reproductive Health. 1997.

UNFPA and University of Aberdeen. Maternal Mortality Update 2004: Delivering Into Good Hands. UNFPA. 31 p. 2004. <u>http://www.unfpa.org/upload/lib_pub_file/381_filename_mmupdate05_eng21.pdf</u>

UNFPA. 2005. World Summit Commits to Universal Access to Reproductive Health by 2015, Press Release. 19 September 2005. <u>http://www.unfpa.org/public/global/pid/89</u>

Vercellini, P., De Giorgi, O., Oldani, S., Cortesi, I., Panazza, S., and Crosignani, P.G. Depot medroxyprogesterone acetate versus an oral contraceptive combined with very-low-dose danazol for long-term treatment of pelvic pain associated with endometriosis. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 175(2): 396-401. Aug 1996. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8765259</u>

Vercellini P, Somigliana E, Viganò P, Abbiati A, Daguati R, Crosignani PG. Endometriosis: current and future medical therapies. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2008 Apr;22(2):275-306. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18036995

Vessey, M and Doll, R. Investigation of relation between use of oral contraceptives and thromboembolic disease. British Medical Journal 2(5599): 199-205. Apr 27, 1968. http://www.bmj.com/content/vol2/issue5599/

Vessey M, Painter M. Oral contraceptive use and cancer. Findings in a large cohort study, 1968-2004. British Journal of Cancer 2006; 95:385-389. <u>http://www.nature.com/bjc/journal/v95/n3/abs/6603260a.html</u>

Vrbíková J, Cibula D. Combined oral contraceptives in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. Hum Reprod Update. 2005 May-Jun;11(3):277-91. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15790599</u>

Warren, MP, Miller KK, Olson WH, Grinspoon SK, and Friedman AJ. Effects of an oral contraceptive (norgestimate/ethinyl estradiol) on bone mineral density in women with hypothalamic amenorrhea and osteopenia: an open-label extension of a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Contraception. September 2005, 72(3): 206-11. <u>http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0010782405001009</u>

Weller SC, Davis-Beaty K. Condom effectiveness in reducing heterosexual HIV transmission. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2002, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD003255. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003255. http://www.cochrane.org/reviews/en/ab003255.html

Westoff CF. The Substitution of Contraception for Abortion in Kazakhstan in the 1990s. DHS Analytical Study. Calverton, MD, USA: Macro International, 2000, No 1. http://www.measuredhs.com/pubs/pdf/AS1/AS1.PDF

Westoff, CF. Olds, S. Abortion and Contraception in Georgia and Kazakhstan, Open Society Institute, New York. 2004.

http://www.soros.org/initiatives/health/articles_publications/publications/contraception_20060405

Winkel, C.A. Evaluation and management of women with endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol 102(2): 397-408. Aug 2003. <u>http://www.mdconsult.com/das/citation/body/137091875-</u> 2/jorg=journal&source=MI&sp=13980242&sid=0/N/13980242/1.html?issn= World Bank. World Development Report, Investing in Health. 1993. <u>http://www-</u> wds.worldbank.org/external/default/main?pagePK=64193027&piPK=64187937&theSitePK=523679&menu PK=64187510&searchMenuPK=64187283&siteName=WDS&entityID=000009265_3970716142319

World Health Organization, 1998. Task Force For Epidemiological Research On Reproductive Health United Nations Development Programme/United Nations Population Fund/World Health Organization/World Bank Special Programme Of Research, And Development And Research Training In Human Reproduction. Effects of contraceptives on hemoglobin and ferritin. Contraception 58(5): 262-73. Nov 1998. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9883381</u>

World Health Organization, 2000. Fact sheet N°240. Induced abortion does not increase breast cancer risk. June 2000. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs240/en/index.html</u>

World Health Organization, 2003b. Effective Contraception—more benefits than meet the eye. Progress in Reproductive Health Research, No. 62. <u>http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/hrp/progress/62/62.pdf</u>

World Health Organization, 2003b. Safe Abortion: Technical and Policy Guidelines for Health Systems. Geneva, WHO. 106 p. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/safe_abortion/safe_abortion.pdf

World Health Organization, 2004a. Reproductive Health Strategy. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/strategy_small_en.pdf

World Health Organization, 2004b. Unsafe Abortion: Global and regional estimates of the incidence of unsafe abortion and associated mortality in 2003. Fifth Edition. http://who.int/reproductive-health/publications/unsafeabortion_2003/ua_estimates03.pdf

World Health Organization, 2004c. Health Policy for Children and Adolescents, No. 4. Young people's health in context. Candace Currie, Chris Roberts, Antony Morgan, eds. http://www.euro.who.int/Document/e82923.pdf

World Health Organization, 2004d. Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use. Third Edition. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/publications/mec/index.htm

World Health Organization, 2005a. Statement on hormonal contraception and risk of STI acquisition. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/family_planning/docs/hormonal_contraception_sti_acquisition.pdf

World Health Organization, 2005b. Hormonal Contraception and HIV: Science and Policy Africa Regional Meeting. Nairobi, 19-21 September 2005. http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/stis/hc hiv/nairobi statement.html

World Health Organization, 2007a. Programmes and Projects: Pharmaceuticals, Italy. 2007. http://www.euro.who.int/pharmaceuticals/Topics/Overview/20020417_3

World Health Organization, 2007b. Family Planning: A Global Handbook for Providers. Johns Hopkins Center for Communication Programs and WHO. 2007. http://www.infoforhealth.org/globalhandbook/

World Health Organization, Reproductive Health Indicators Database. <u>http://www.who.int/reproductive-health/global_monitoring/RHRxmls/RHRmainpage.htm</u>

World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe. European Health for All database. http://www.euro.who.int/hfadb Yimin C et al. 2004. Mifepristone-induced abortion and birth weight in the first subsequent pregnancy, International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Vol. 84 (3):229-235. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15001370?ordinalpos=10&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed ResultsPanel.Pubmed DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed RVDocSum</u>

Zhang Z, Weng L, Jin X, Jing X, Zhang L, et al. An epidemiological study on the relationship of ectopic pregnancy and the use of contraceptives in Beijing--the incidence of ectopic pregnancy in the Beijing area. Beijing Collaborating Study Group for Ectopic Pregnancy. Contraception 1994;50(3):253-62. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7805376?ordinalpos=2&itool=Entrez System2.PEntrez.Pubmed_Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed_RVDocSum

Zhirova IA, Frolova OG, Astakhova TM, and Ketting E. Abortion-Related Maternal Mortality in the Russian Federation. Studies in Family Planning. 2004; 35[3]: 178-188. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15511061?ordinalpos=4&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed ResultsPanel.Pubmed DefaultReportPanel.Pubmed RVDocSum</u>

Zhylka, N. Contraceptive Security Situation Analysis in the Ukraine. Rayevsky Scientific Publishers, Kyiv, Ukraine. 2005.

The Europe and Eurasia Regional Family Planning Activity

John Snow, Inc. 1616 N. Fort Myer Drive, 11th Floor Arlington, Virginia 22209 USA Tel: 1 (703) 528-7474 Email: <u>nberdzuli@jsi.com</u> URL: <u>www.jsi.com</u>

